

Developer's Corner



May 2015



Table of Contents

1. Developer's Corner	3
1.1 Geometry Cheat Sheet	
1.1.1 Overlay Operations:	
1.2 Exercise 1: Assemble a Map Project	
1.2.1 Step 1: Start a New C# Application	
1.2.2 Step 2: Add DotSpatial Components	
1.2.3 Step 3: Set up interface for plugin Menu	
1.2.4 Step 4: Adding the Map and other Controls	
1.2.5 Step 5: Add the Legend and Toolbox	
1.2.6. Step 6: Link It All Together	24
1.3 Exercise 2: Simplify Australia Data Layers	
1.3.1 Step 1: Download Data	
1.3.2 Step 2: Calculate Polygon Areas	27
1.3.3. Step 3: Compute Centroids	
1.3.4 Step 4: Sub-sample by Attributes	
1.3.5 Step 5: Export Layer to a File	
1.3.6 Step 6: Repeat with Highway Linear Referencing System Routes	
1.3.7 Step 7: Applying Labels	
1.4. Programmatic Point Symbology	
1.4.1 Add a Point Layer	
1.4.2 Simple Symbols	
1.4.3 Character Symbols	
1.4.4 Image Symbols	
1.4.5 Point Categories	51
1.4.6 Compound Symbols	55
1.5 Programmatic Line Symbology	57
1.5.1 Adding Line Layers	57
1.5.2. Simple Line symbols	57
1.5.3. Outlined Symbols	
1.5.4 Unique Values	
1.5.5 Custom Categories	60
1.5.6 Compound Lines	61

1.5.7. Line Decorations64
1.6 Programmatic Polygon Symbology65
1.6.1 Add Polygon Layers65
1.6.2. Simple Patterns
1.6.3. Gradients
1.6.4. Individual Gradients
1.6.5 Multi-Colored Gradient
1.6.6. Custom Polygon Categories69
1.6.7 Compound Patterns
1.7 Programmatic Labels
1.7.1 Field Name Expressions72
1.7.2 Multi-Line Labels73
1.7.3. Translucent Labels
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology75
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology75 1.8.1 Download Data75
 1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology
 1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief79
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes80
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes801.8.6 Edit Raster Values81
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes801.8.6 Edit Raster Values811.8.7. Quantile Breaks82
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes801.8.6 Edit Raster Values811.8.7. Quantile Breaks821.9. Extension Methods84
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3. Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes801.8.6 Edit Raster Values811.8.7. Quantile Breaks821.9. Extension Methods841.10 Adding Additional Plugins and Extensions86
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes801.8.6 Edit Raster Values811.8.7. Quantile Breaks821.9. Extension Methods841.10 Adding Additional Plugins and Extensions861.10.1 GDAL86
1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology751.8.1 Download Data751.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.2. Add a Raster Layer761.8.3 Control Category Range781.8.4. Shaded Relief791.8.5. Predefined Schemes801.8.6 Edit Raster Values811.8.7. Quantile Breaks821.9. Extension Methods841.10 Adding Additional Plugins and Extensions861.10.1 GDAL861.10.2. New Ribbon95

1. Developer's Corner

This section gives a bit of an overview of geometric relationships, which are important for understanding some of the vector analysis options, and then gives some workable exercises to demonstrate the current capabilities of DotSpatial 1.7. This should be thought of as a kind of developer's preview. This part of the document covers using DotSpatial components, stitching together a working GIS by dragging the important components from the toolbox in Visual Studio, and then gives a detailed description of how to programmatically add layers and work with symbology or

complex symbolic schemes.

A huge focus for the .Net version of DotSpatial is to put much more control into the hands of developers. By providing everything in the form of .Net components, it makes it far simpler to pick and choose what sections of the framework you want to work with. If the map is all you need, you don't need to bother adding the legend, our custom status strip, or the toolstrip. However, those components are provided for you so that it you can stitch together a working GIS with minimal writing of code.

1.1 Geometry Cheat Sheet

In addition to organizing coordinates for drawing, the geometry classes provide a basic framework for testing topological relationships. These are spatial relationships that are principally concerned with testing how to shapes come together, for instance whether two shapes intersect, overlap, or simply touch. These relationships will not change even if the space is subjected to continuous deformations. Examples include stretching or warping, but not tearing or gluing.

The tests to compare two separate features look at the interior, boundary, and exterior of both features that are being compared. The various combinations form a matrix illustrated in the figure below. It should be apparent that not only are the intersections possible, but each region will have a different dimensionality. A point is represented as a 0 dimensional object, a line by 1 dimension and an area by 2. If the test is not specific to what dimension, it can represent any dimension as "True". Likewise, if it is required that the set is empty, then "False" is used.





Graphically, we are illustrating the intersection matrix for two polygons. Some tests can be

represented by a single such matrix, or a single test. Others require a combination of several tests in order to fully evaluate the relationship. When the matrix is represented in string form, the values are simply listed in sequence as you would read the values from the top left row, through the top row and then repeating for the middle and bottom rows. The following are all possible values in the matrix:

- T: Value must be "true" non empty but supports any dimensions >= 0
- F: Value must be "false" empty dimensions < 0
- *: Don't care what the value is
- 0: Exactly zero dimensions
- 1: Exactly 1 dimension
- 2: Exactly 2 dimensions

The following is a visual representation of the test or tests required in each case. A red X indicates that the test in those boundaries must be false. A colored value requires that the test be true, but doesn't specify a dimension. A gray value indicates that the test doesn't care about the value of that cell.

- Contains:
- Every point of the other geometry is a point of this geometry, and the interiors of the two geometries have at least one point in common.
- o T****FF*

	1	В	Е
L			
В			
Е			

• Covered By:

0

Ο

• Every point of this geometry is a point of the other geometry.

o T*F**F***, *TF**F***, **T*F*** or **F*TF***

	I B	Е			В	Е		В	Ε		I	В	Е
1	-		L		X		I			Т			
в			В		\mathbf{X}		В	\mathbf{X}		В	-		
E			Е	1			Ε	Ten		Е			

• Covers:

- o Every point of the other geometry is a point of this geometry.
- T*****FF* or *T****FF* or ****T*FF*

		L	В	E		I	В	Ε			В	Ε
		•			I				I			
	В				В				В			
0	E	X	\mathbf{X}		Е		X		Ε	X		

• Crosses:

- o Geometries have some but not all interior points in common.
- T*T***** (for Point/Line, Point/Area, Line/Area)

	I	В	Е
L			
В			
Е			

0

0

0

• T****T** (for Line/Point, Line/Area, Area/Line)

	Т	В	Е
L			
В			
Е			

• 0******* (for Line/Line Situations)

	I	В	Ε
L			
В	-		
Е			

- Disjoint:
- o The two geometries have no point in common.
- o FF*FF****



• Intersects: NOT Disjoint

0

0

0

- o The two geometries have at least one point in common.
- Overlaps:
- The geometries have some but not all points in common, they have the same dimension, and the intersection of the interiors of the two geometries has the same dimension as the geometries themselves.
- T*T***T** (for Point/Point or Area/Area)

	I	B	Е
L			
В			
Е			

1*T***T** (for Line/Line)



- Touches:
- The two geometries have at least one point in common but their interiors do not intersect.

o FT******, F**T****, or F***T****

		В	Ε		I	В	Ε			I	В	Ε
1	X			I	X				I	X		
В				В		+			В			
Е			,	Е			, 0	-	Е			

- Within:
- Every point of this geometry is a point of the other geometry and the interiors of the two geometries have at least one point in common.
- o T*F**F***



0

1.1.1 Overlay Operations:

Being able to test the existing relationships between geometries is extremely useful for doing analysis, but many times you need to alter the geometries themselves. Frequently you want to use other geometries to accomplish this. Consider the case of a clipping operation. In the figure below, the rivers extend beyond the boundaries of the state of Texas. Using an overlay operation is exactly the kind of operation that helps with this kind of calculation. These are not limited to specific scenarios like polygon to polygon. Instead the same terminology applies to all the geometries using the following definitions.



- Difference:
 - Computes a Geometry representing the points making up this geometry that do not make up the other geometry.



- Intersection:
 - Computes a geometry representing the points shared by this geometry and the other geometry.



• Symetric Difference:

0

• Computes a geometry representing the points in this geometry that are not present in the other geometry, and the points in the other geometry that are not in this geometry.



- Union:
- Computes a geometry representing all the points in this geometry and the other geometry.



1.2 Exercise 1: Assemble a Map Project

Putting together a GIS project has never been easier. Even a novice developer can take advantage of our ready-built mapping controls, dragging and dropping them onto a solution. Because the components are largely independent, they can be re-arranged in different layouts, or used separately. Furthermore, the extensive use of interfaces for the controls allows a control like the map control to be used interchangeably with alternate controls that act like a legend.

In this first exercise, we will take the assembly step by step. If you have never worked with anything besides the built in .Net controls, this exercise will be useful because it will demonstrate how to add the DotSpatial components to your Visual Studio developer toolbox. It will also show the basic way that the most fundamental map controls can be added to the map.

1.2.1 Step 1: Start a New C# Application

The first step of the exercise is to create a brand new application. Rather than working with an existing application, the goal here is to show that getting from a blank project to a fully operational GIS takes only a few minutes in order to add the components and link them together. To get to new project dialog in Visual Studio, simply navigate to File, New, and choose Project from the context menu. This will display the New Project dialog displayed in figure 3.

ea	Stort Page # 1	4				- 54	Kun Explorer
h Teolbox 🔑 -	1	New Project				19	© ≙(#
	Profe	F Recent		MTFramework 4.5 + Sort by Default	-) (F E	Search Installed Templates (Col+E) P +	
pe are no usable controls in this ign Drag in item onto this test to		* Installed		The Mandacer Essent Americation	Viewed C.	Type: Visual C#	
add it to the footbox.		# Templates			Total C*	A project for creating an application with a	
	Start	+ Voual Rasic		WHY Application	Visual C#	Windows Forms user interface	
	Dpen Pro	Nindows	Desktop	Console Application	Visual C#		
	Open fra	Cloud Reporting	6	ASP.NET Web Application	Visual C#		
		Silverlight		ClessLibrary	Visual C#		
	Recent	NCF		Class Library (Fortabia)	Visual C#		
	Traileay	Workflow		Na Cu			
	Extension	> Visual F#		Silveright Application	Visual C#		
	matthew	SQL Sever		Silveright Class Library	Visual C#		
	practiceld muttpluge	practicelo TypeSonpt muttiplug i Other Project muttiplug Samples Windows & Oaline	Typei	WCF Service Application	Visual C#		
	matthewa			Get Windows Azure SDK for .NET	Visual C#		
	Windows			PS an array of the second	10.100		
	SampleP			Cick here to go online and find	tengiates.	-	
		Name	WindowsForm	sAppleation1			
	Ortor	Locations	C:/Users/Matt	Decumentsi C# practicel.		Browse	
	Show output f	adjut1 Soldien name Wo	WndowsFerm	ndqqileation)		Create directory for solution	
						OK Cancel	

Figure 3: New Project Dial

Change the name and path to something appropriate. In this case, we chose "Build_A_Map" and C:\Users\Matt\documents\DotSpatialDev\Tutorial\Components\Ex1 is the file path. Make sure that the Project type is Visual C# and Windows. Ensure that the Template is set to "Windows Forms Application." Then click OK.

1.2.2 Step 2: Add DotSpatial Components

The first step in any project is to ensure that you have loaded all of the designer controls and components into the DotSpatial toolbar. First, we want to create a new tab to store the DotSpatial tools. You can do this by right clicking on the toolbox and selecting the Add Tab option from the context menu.



Figure 4: Add DotSpatial Tab

This will allow you to edit the name of the tab. We will name the tab "DotSpatial" so that we can easily keep the controls from the DotSpatial library together. Once you have added a DotSpatial tab, you will want to right click in the blank space below that tab and select "Choose Items" from the context menu.

PLE EDIT VIEW PROJECT BUILD DEBUG TEAM TOOLS TEST ANALYZE WINDOW Toolbor Autor Controls Containes Controls Cont	Build A	N	1ap - Microsoft Visual Stud	lio					
Consolid Parts Curley	FILE EDIT		VIEW PROJECT BUIL	D DEBUG	TEAM	TOOLS	TEST	ANALYZE	WINDOW
Toolbox • 0 × Search Toolbox P+ All Windows Forms P+ D Common Controls P+ D Constainers P+ D Adaps P+ D Datags P+ D Parte Ctrl+V There at Ctrl+V Son All Ctrl+V Son All Ctrl+V Son All Ctrl+V Move Up Move Up Move Up Move Up Move Up Move up	0.0	ĩ	3 - 🖕 🖬 🖉 🤊 - 1	🤊 - 🕨 St	art = 🖒	- Debug	- An	y CPU	• 🍺 -
Search Toolbox A diffundows Forms Common Controls Containers A control controls Control	Toolbox		+ 4 ×	Form1.cs [D	esign] 👳	×			
All Windows Forms Common Controls Containers Decontainers Porting Printing Dalogs Paperoing Purporting Purporting Purporting Purporting Purporting Purporting Choose Rems Formal Choose Rems Formal Choose Rems Son Rems Formal Choose Rems Choose Rems Son Rems S	Search Toolbe	ox	<i>.</i> م	-					-
 Common Controls Containers Pata Components Parting Page Christ Protocoments Protocoments	♦ All Window	vs I	Forms	🖳 Form	n1		. 655		
b Containers b Menus & Toolbars b Components b Raporting b Raporting b Raporting b Walsp Toolbars c Map Tools b Walsp Toolbars c Map Tools b Map Tools b Show All b Choose Rems b General c Son Rems. Alphabetically Rest Toolbars b General C Son Rems. Alphabetically Rest Toolbars b General C Son Rems b General C Son Walspace C Son Walspace C Cut-V There a Value Son Rems b General C Son Rems b General C Son Walspace Son Walspace Son Walspace Son Walspace Son Walspace C Son Walspace C Son Walspace Son Wa	D Common (Col	ntrols						
P. Menus & Loobars Data Dentains Printing Dalogs Paperting Pape	Containers								
Components Components Pointing Dialogs Reporting Port Point Po	Menus & I	00	lbars				Righ	nt Clic	k
Printing Part Pa	b Componer	nts			/				
 Pladogi Preporting WPF Interoperability Map Tools Paste Clrl+V There at Just View Show All Choose Rems Show All Choose Rems Beneral Choose Rems Choose Rems Better Tab Rename Tab Move Up Mov	▶ Printing								
 P. Reporting WPF Interceptability Paste Ctrl+V There at Ctrl+V There at Ctrl+V Choose Rems. Sone All I Choose Rems. General Sone At Tab Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down 	Þ Dialogs					_			P
b WP-Interoperability D Map Tools D bdspate Show All Concesterns S General Context Add Tab D bdstet Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Up Move Up Show output from:	▶ Reporting								
P Map 1006 Paste Chri+V There at group, D F General F General Choce Rems F General Choce Rems Show All Choce Rems Show All Show Vip Move Up Move Up Move Down Output Show output from:	WPF Intero	pe	rability						
Pase Ctrl+V There at ✓ List View Show All P General Choose Rems P General Sort Rems. Alphabetically Reset Toolbox Add Tab Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down	✓ DotSpatial								
Three of Link Vew group. 0 9 General 9 General 9 General 1 Gouter Tab 1 Delete Tab 1 Rename Tab 1 Move Up 1 Move Up 1 Move Down 1 Output 1 Show output from:	6		Paste	Ctrl+V					
group U Show All Choose Rems P General Choose Rems General Choose Rems Show All Choose Rems General Choose Rems Choose Rems Reset Toolbox Add Tab Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down Coutput Coutput Show output from:	There at	1	List View						
General Choose hems Sont hems Sont hems Add Tab Detect Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down Output Show output from:	group. D	group. U	Show All						
General Sont Trems Alphabetically Reset Toolbox Add Tab Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down Output Show output from:			Choose Items			0			-0
Reset Toolbox Add Tab Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down Output Show output from:	▷ General		Sort Items Alphabetically						
Add Tab Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down Output Show output from:			Reset Toolbox						
Delete Tab Rename Tab Move Up Move Down			Add Tab						
Rename Tab Move Up Move Down Output Show output from:			Delete Tab						
Move Up Move Down			Rename Tab						
Move Down Output Show output from:			Move Up						
Output Show output from:			Move Down						
Output Show output from:		-			_				
Output Show output from:									
Output Show output from:									
Show output from:				Output					
				Show output	t from:				
Error List Output Find Symbol Results				Error List	utput	nd Symbo	Results		
				Contraction of Contra	- Past 1		and a second		

Figure 5: Choose Items

The choose items option launches a new dialog which will allow you to select from various pre-loaded .Net controls as well as some COM controls. However, we are going to use a third option, and browse for the DotSpatial.Controls.dll file.



Figure 6: Browse

This, in turn, launches a file browser, and you will have to navigate to where the DotSpatial.Controls.dll file is found on your local machine. On this machine it was in the C:\Users\Matt\Documents\DotSpatialDev\DotSpatial.



Once you have chosen this document, it will cause a large number of tools to be added to your toolbox, as is illustrated in the figure to the right.

1.2.3 Step 3: Set up interface for plugin Menu

Next we will add a plugin for a menu, which includes several basic GIS functions like adding data layers, switching between zoom and pan mode, and zooming to the full extent. This is not the same as the "SpatialToolStrip." This will likely be removed in future versions of DotSpatial. We first need to reference more of the DotSpatial Library as well as an additional .net framework in order to support the plugin. The plugin comes with the DotSpatial download so we will not need to download anything extra but we will need to add some code in order to access it.

In the solution explorer under the project name is a menu option called "References." If you click to open the menu you should see "DotSpatial.Controls" has already been added from our work in the previous steps. We now need to add more of the DotSpatial library. Right click on "References" and select "Add References."



Figure 9: Adding a Reference

A new window will appear. Scroll down to "System.ComponentModel.Composition" and check the box next to it.



Figure 10: Adding an Assembly

Next go to the "Browse" menu option and click on the "Browse Button."



Figure 11: Browsing to Add DLLs

This, in turn, launches a file browser, and you will have to navigate to wherever the DotSpatial dlls are located on your local machine. On this machine it was in the C:\Users\Matt\Documents\DotSpatialDev\DotSpatial. Add all the files except for the "DotSpatial.Controls.dll" since that one has already been added to the project.

)rganize ▼ New folder				Select all the dlls excep	
Microsoft Visual St	Documents library DotSpatial			for the "Controls" dll	
	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	
7 Favorites	DemoMap.exe	7/25/2014 2:48 AM	Application	1 37 KB	
Desktop	DotSpatial.Analysis.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	26 KB	
Downloads	DotSpatial.Compatibility.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	38 KB	
Recent Places	DotSpatial.Controls.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	787 KB	
ConeDrive	DotSpatial.Data.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	393 KB	
	DotSpatial.Data.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	69 KB	
Libraries	DotSpatial.Extensions.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	10 KB	
Documents	DotSpatial.Modeling.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	94 KB	
J Music	DotSpatial.Mono.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	5 KB	
Pictures	DotSpatial.Positioning.Design.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	30 KB	
Videos	DotSpatial.Positioning.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	368 KB	
	DotSpatial.Positioning.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	105 KB	
Computer	DotSpatial.Projections.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	19,319 KB	
S (C:)	DotSpatial.Projections.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	99 KB	
SYSTEM (E:)	DotSpatial.Serialization.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	36 KB	
HP_RECOVERY (F *	Contraction encoded and a family and	7/06/0014 0.47 684	DIT CL.	0V TCT	

Figure 12: Adding additional DotSpatial dlls

	Avertic Steeper 1 A	ios Eglow - 9
ach Yedhos P		10 D-2020 2-
Billinsteam Server Conserver, Server,	Make sure all dlis have a check by them and hit "OK"	 Internet Party <
P Spetal Lating Bit Spetal Latingheat P Tophlerage General	Constant Section 2018 Constant Section	-

Figure 13: Checking dll status



Figure 14: DotSpatial dlls

Your references menu should now look like Figure 14. The next step is to add the AppManger from the DotSpatial tools. This will allow the project to manage the various tools we are going to add to it. Drag and drop the AppManger onto the form and it will appear below the form.



Figure 15: Adding the AppManger

For simplicity we will keep the default names for each of the tools but they should be renamed to avoid confusion and provide meaning in your applications. The next step involves adding code so that our project can add plugins and creating a shell so we can add in the tool strip.



Figure 16: Accessing the Code

ohos + 9 x	Form&.cs = X Form&.cs (Design)			Solution Explorer
arch Toolbox 🖉 ·	El Build, A, Map	 Ag Build, A, Map. Jorn1 	 • P Fermi0 	- 40 @ B 0 4 - 0 0 0 -
The set is a suble cattrib is the form	into system collection, test collection of the system collection of the collection of the system collection of the system collection of the collection of the system collection of the system collection of the collection of the system collection of the system collection of the collection of the system collection o	n nor n();	A new window will appear that looks like this	Control Active Captor Parks Control Active Captor Parks Control C
	100 % +			
	Output			- 3 ×
	Shew output from (Debug The thread 0x1054 has exited with The thread 0x1264 has exited with The program '(6832) Oulid_A_Hap.s 4	• 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		

Figure 17: Code Main Page

Your screen should like similar to Figure 17. We will now add code to this page in order to have access to the tool bar plugin. At the top of the page are various "using" statements. These are files outside the main project that the program has access to. We will need to add some code to let the program use the assembly that we added earlier.





The menu bar will not appear until the project has been compiled, but we can still add features to our map because the program will automatically put the menu bar at the very top of the form.

1.2.4 Step 4: Adding the Map and other Controls

Now that the menu plugin has been added, we can start adding more DotSpatial controls. In order to cleanly divide up the screen area with a minimum of custom programming, we will take advantage of the DotSpatial "SpatialDockManager" control. This will divide the content into two separate panels that are sizeable by the user.



Figure 21: SpatialDockManager

On the left side on "Panel 1" we are going to add a Tab Control which will help us manage the legend and DotSpatial Tools. The tab control is under "All Windows Forms" on the Toolbox. Set the dock to fill.



Figure 22: TabControl

Once the separate panels exist, we can add the map to the project. When adding the map, it will likely be the wrong size for the panel that we created. In order to allow the user to resize the map so that it always is the right size for the panel, change the "Dock" property to "Fill". This can be done by choosing the central rectangle in the drop down editor that appears in the property grid when you click on the down arrow.



Figure 23: Add a Map

1.2.5 Step 5: Add the Legend and Toolbox

legend or toolbox.

Because the Legend and Toolbox can both exist in support of the map, and it is not critical to have both of these tools visible at the same time, for this project we will take advantage of the .Net Tab control to help re-use the same space more effectively. Because these components are interchangeable, the Tab control is not necessary, and second split panel, fixed panels, or even third party docking panels are all acceptable alternatives that will not affect the proper behavior of the map,

Q T1 Quick Launch (Ctrl+Q) Р = 8 × Build_A_Map - N PROJECT BUILD DEBUG TEAM TOOLS TEST ANALYZE WINDOW HELP 1 Matthew Bayles + 💿 - 💿 | 🛐 - 🛀 🔐 🦉 - 🖓 - 🖓 - 🕨 Start - 🍏 - Debug - Any CPU コ市市山|国工設御|市主|おお。 · . + = Formi er (Derian)* - X 000-200000-All Windows Form Permi Common Controls gend Tool Contair DotSpatial.Analysis
 DotSpatial.Compatibility
 DotSpatial.Controls
 DotSpatial.Data
 DotSpatial.Data.Forms
 DotSpatial.Data.Forms
 DotSpatial.Modeling.Fon
 DotSpatial.Modeling.Fon
 DotSpatial.Mone DotSpatial.Analys Menus & Toolbars Data Dialogs Reporting WPF Interoperability Map Tools tSpatial Posit DotSpatial Pointer AppManager DatelineCrossi LayoutControl ---------------end1 DotSpatial.Controls.Legens Drag the control 11 14 P F P LayoutDocToolStrip onto the form and LavoutInsertToolStri LayoutListBox LayoutMapToolStrip LayoutMenuStrip set the dock to fill LayoutPropertyGrin LayoutZoomToolS Layoutzo Legend Map Modeler SpatialDockManage appManager1 La 0000 SpatialHeaderCont SpatialStatusStrip SpatialToolStrip SpatialToolStripPane 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 ToolManage The thread 0x1664 has exited with code 259 (0x103). The thread 0x1684 has exited with code 259 (0x103). The thread 0x1684 has exited with code 259 (0x103). ock or List Output Find Symbol Results

To add a legend, drag and drop the DotSpatial Legend onto the first tab and set the dock to fill.

Figure 24: Add a Legend

In this instance we changed the text on the first tab to read Legend. This can be done through the property grid that appears when you activate the tab control by clicking on it after it has been added to the main form.

The toolbox has been designed with basic map analysis tools and has been designed to function as a plugin. In order to have the tools be usable on the form we are going to need to add the "Tools" folder from the DotSpatial folder to our project's Plugin folder which we will create next.

We will need to create a folder named "Plugins" in bin/Debug folder. The file path on this computer was C:\Users\Matt\Documents\DotSpatialDev\Tutorial\Components\Ex1\Build_A_Map\Build_A_Map\bin\D ebug

rganize 👻 🛛 🎇 Oper	n Share with 🔻 E-mail Burn	n New folder		iii 🔹 🛅
Favorites	Documents library Debug			Create a "Plugins" eby: Folder -
Downloads	Name	Date modified	Type Si	folder
Kecent Places	in-IP	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
E ONEDNYE	it it	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
Libraries	🕌 nl	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
Documents	🕌 Plugins	5/7/2015 9:30 AM	File folder	
J Music	📕 pt	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
Pictures	🎉 pt-BR	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
Videos	io 🔒	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
	🈹 th	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	
Computer	🎉 Tools	5/6/2015 4:04 PM	File folder	
🕰 OS (C:) 👻	🗼 vi-VN	5/7/2015 9:16 AM	File folder	

Figure 25: Create a Plugins Folder

Next locate the "Tools" folder in the DotSpatial folder that you downloaded earlier. This is the same folder that has the DotSpatial dlls. Copy this folder and place it inside the Plugins folder.



Figure 26: Create a Plugins Folder

Now that we have the "Tools" folder in the "Plugins" folder we now have the basic controls and tools for a map. Once we finish linking the controls together a "Tools" tab will be added next to the "Legend" tab. Therefore we can delete the second tab as we will not need it. The only thing now is to connect each of the controls together.

1.2.6. Step 6: Link It All Together

We could technically run the project right away, but it would not appear to do anything. The add data button, for instance might happily open a file dialog, but nothing would happen when it was finished. In order for the legend to show the layers from the map, we need to link things together. We need to change the settings on two controls: the AppManger and the Map.



Now that our project is connected, the first thing to do is to get some sample data. For our project, almost any data in shapefile format will do, but in the spirit of improving online data awareness, this book features many online data sources that should provide up-to-date GIS data. As example we will use a shapefile from the U.S. Cenus, which can be found among other files here http://www.census.gov



The raw data in this case is stored in the form of a zip file. Most modern operating systems can unzip files automatically, but in the event that you need an unzip utility, a free, open source utility called 7-zip is available for download from http://www.7-zip.org. Once you have downloaded and extracted the shapefiles, you will see a .shp, a .shx and a .dbf file all with the same name before the extension. This is the basic file format known as an ESRI shapefile, and is a commonly used format for GIS analysis because it is portable and has an open standard and so is widely compatible between different GIS software vendors.

The figure above illustrates the view of the continental United States. Because the data also includes counties in Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico, it will be necessary to zoom in a little to see a view like the one above. You can also use the mouse wheel to zoom in or out of the scene and click on the "hand" icon to pan. We will next look at some of the features of DotSpatial.



Figure 29: Map of the United States

1.3 Exercise 2: Simplify Australia Data Layers

1.3.1 Step 1: Download Data

For this exercise, we need some thematic vector layers that represent more than just polygons. For this project we will use shapfiles from the Utah Automated Geographic Reference Center. Producing high quality maps for the State of Utah, the Reference Center has been active for over 30 years. Access to these maps is free and they can be found at:

http://gis.utah.gov/

For this exercise, we downloaded the Municipal, County and State Boundaries; Lakes, Rivers, Streams, & Springs; and the Highway Linear Referencing System Routes shapefiles. These files are stored in zip format, so you will have to unzip them first (see exercise 1). Before we do any programmatic symbolizing, we will want to convert the polygons from the municipalities' shapefile to a set of points. Fortunately DotSpatial has the tools necessary to do this operation.

Before we begin these exercises, however, we need to be able to access the attribute table. The attribute table is a Plugin that comes in the DotSpatial download. To activate it, simply copy the "DotSpatial.Plugins.TableEditor" from the downloaded DotSpatial folder to the Plugins folder we created in the last exercise.



Figure 30: Adding the Attribute Table

Now that we have access to the attribute table we are ready to start modifying our shapefiles.

DotSpatial 1.7	
File Extensions	
: C	📴 🗘 🕞 🗣 🌒 🔳
Legend Tools	
E 😫 Map Layers	
	Click to add Data

1.3.2 Step 2: Calculate Polygon Areas

Figure 31: Adding Data

After clicking the green plus to open a file dialog, browse for the "Utah.shp" and the "Municipalities.shp" shapefiles you just downloaded and extracted. When they open, you should see polygons that represent large city areas and the state of Utah, mostly at the center of Utah. Since the polygons are small compared to the size of the entire state, we can see that the city regions are in fact polygons by zooming into the central area.



Figure 32: Municipalities Polygons

We will eventually like to be able to distinguish the largest cities. We will use the area calculation tool to calculate areas for each of the polygons. These values will be used to separate the larger cities from the small ones. To see the toolbox, simply change the tab to the Toolbox tab. While this shapefile already includes the areas of the municipalities, it is useful to go through the process as an example of how to use the DotSpatial tools.



Figure 33: Calculate Area

A new window will open and have two user fields. The first field is the input feature set. In this case it is our Municipalities shapefile. The next field is the resulting feature set. When the green plus is clicked, it will open a new window allowing us to specify a storage location and a name for our new shapefile. In this example we named our shapefile "Area of Municipalities."

Spatial 1.7	-	-	-		-	
Extensions						
ا چې 🙆 🚺	🕻 😌 🖲 🛄 🕀 ji 🖧 🤊	• •		Our in	put is	
Tools				Munici	balities	
Analysis Terrain Analysis						
Conversion						
Spatial Reference			1			
Raster Overlay	Calculate Areas					
Interpolation	Input			Calculate Areas	2	
Calculate Areas	Polygon Feature Set			Calculate Aleas	· · · · ·	
Generalization	Municipalities		• 💠	This tool calculates the ar	ea of each	
				polygon in a polygon featu appends the results to the	e Output feature	
	Output			sets attribute table.		5
	Polygon Feature Set		(B)	CIL	- h h-m-m	
				Clic	ck nere	d
(
	Save As					
	Calor 👃 🕨 Libraries	Documents DotSpatialDev	shapefiles + Area of Municipalit	ties	- 44	
	Ormains a Navifal	4			0	
	Organize • New Tol	per				
	🔶 Favorites	Documents library		Arrange by:	Folder -	
	E Desktop	Area of Municipalities		Arrange by,	roider	
	Downloads	Name	Date modified	Type Size		
	E Recent Places					
	ConeDrive		No items match your sear	ch.		
						R
	Calibraries	1		Name o	of the	
	Documents			output sh	anefile	17
	Music			output si	uperne	15
	Pictures					1
	Videos					N
	-	1				
	File name: Arei	of Municipalities			•	
		ne Files (* shn)				
	Save as type: Shar					
	Save as type: Shap					
10.4	Save as type: Shap				Count	- T

Figure 34: Making a new shapefile

Once we click save the program will calculate the areas of the municipalities and a warning window will appear. Make sure to use the map's coordinate system.

	DotSpatial 1.7	
	File Extensions	
Tool Progress		
Invalid or Missing	Projection - Area of Municipalities	
Ether the projection w specification could be [Nothing] Select a definition opti	as supplied in an unrecognized format, or no projection found. The specified projection was:	Make sure to to use the maps current
O Do Nothing. (Un	modified coordinates will be drawn.)	coordinate
O Use Latitude and	Longitude (WGS1984)	coordinate
Use the map's cu	ment coordinate system.	system
 Use Selected Tra WGS84 Use this option for I 	he rest of this session.	
	Cose	A
	Figure 35: Coordinate System	

The resulting shapefile has been added to the map as a new layer. If we open the attribute table we can see that a new field has been added to the resulting shapefile that shows the area.



Figure 36: Newly Added Area

1.3.3. Step 3: Compute Centroids

Now that we have a way to order the cities by way of areas, we can now create a simple cities layer from the existing polygons. We can do this by using the centroid tool.



Figure 37: Calculate Centroid

The same windows will appear for calculating centroids as for when we calculated the area. Follow the same steps. The result should look something like Figure 38.



Figure 38: Too Many Cities

The shapefile created by calculating the centroids will now be a good representation of the city locations for built up areas, and in addition, it will give us an approximate measure of the size of the built up area using the area attribute.

1.3.4 Step 4: Sub-sample by Attributes

As can be seen from the figure above, there are a few too many cities visible to make a good map. We need to build a cities shapefile with just the largest cities. We can use the select by attributes ability, and in this case choose [Area] > 1e+08 as the criteria, in order to select Utah's seven biggest cities.



Figure 39: [Area] > 1e+08

We will rename the "Centroids" layer to "Cities." In order to create a new layer with the features we have selected, we can right click on the cities layer in the legend. By highlighting the "Selection" tab in the context menu, we gain the ability to create a layer from the selected features. This will create a new in-memory shapefile that is not yet associated with a true data layer.



Figure 40: Create a Layer

1.3.5 Step 5: Export Layer to a File

Now that we have created this new layer we need to export it in order to save it as an actual shapefile.



Figure 41: Export Layer

Exporting the layer will save this newly created city layer with just the cities with the largest areas.

1.3.6 Step 6: Repeat with Highway Linear Referencing System Routes

We will limit the size of this shapefile as well. There are a variety of ways to limit the shapefile's size but in this example we will use length. This shape file contains not only the highways but the exit ramps and other short roads that we do not want in our project. To simply our project we will only keep roads greater than 1000 meters.



Figure 42: Primary Roads

Make a new layer using the data and export the file. Selecting by attributes is not the only way to narrow down the features that you want to use. First, make sure that the layer you want to interact with is selected in the legend. This will prevent content from other layers from being selected at the same time. Next you can activate the selection tool by using the button in the toolstrip indicated in the figure below. Holding down the [Shift] or [Ctrl] keys allows you to select multiple layers at one time. Once you have selected the major polygons, create a new layer the same way by using the create layer from selection option in the legend.



Figure 43: Selection Tool

1.3.7 Step 7: Applying Labels

Add the counties shapefile to the map. In order to finish our map exercise we will add labels to our map for each county.




Figure 45: Feature Labeler



Figure 46: Applied Labels

This is the end of the basic map tutorial. If you have more questions feel free to check the "Discussions"

tab on http://dotspatial.codeplex.com/discussions.

1.4. Programmatic Point Symbology

Unlike the previous section, where we were assuming that the reader would perform each step, in this section, we will explore the most basic features of the extremely powerful symbology toolkit provided by DotSpatial, but listed under completely independent objectives. These are subdivided into 5 basic categories: Points, Lines, Polygons, Labels, and Rasters. A comprehensive set of cascading forms launched from the Legend provide a built in system so that users can get started editing symbology right away using the built in components. However, this section is not about mastering the buttons on the dialogs. Rather, this section makes the assumption that you are either writing a plug-in, or else are building your own GIS software using our components. In such a case, you might want to be able to automatically add certain datasets, and control the symbology automatically, behind the scenes.

In previous versions of DotSpatial, setting the color of the seventh point in the shapefile to red was extremely simple, but the trade-off was that anything more complex was not inherently supported in the base program. Instead, developers would have to write their own code to make symbolize the layer based on attributes. DotSpatial introduces thematic symbol classes that on the surface appear to be much more complicated. However, we will show that accessors have been provided to still allow easy access to the simplest steps, but also provide a basic structure that makes symbolizing by attributes much simpler than in previous versions.

To begin this exercise, we will need the datasets created as part of exercise 2. We will also be working with a copy of the Visual Studio project that we created in exercise 1, to hammer in the point that you do not need to be working with the DotSpatial executable, but rather can be working directly with the components in a new project. The first step is to explore adding data to the map programmatically.

1.4.1 Add a Point Layer

Objective:

Add A Point Layer To The Map

```
using DotSpatial.Data;
```

IFeatureSet fs = FeatureSet.Open(@"[YourFolder]\DotSpatialDev\shapefiles\Centroids of
Municipalities\Centroids.shp");

IMapFeatureLayer mylayer = map1.Layers.Add(fs);

The three lines of code above are all that is needed to programmtically add the cities with centroids shapefile to the map. The first line allows us to use the DotSpatial data library which includes the IFeatureSet. The second line creates an external FeatureSet class. This is useful for opening and working with shapefiles. It also creates an external FeatureSet class and reads the content from the vector portion of the shapefile into memory. The @ symbol tells C# that the line should be read literally, and won't use the \ character as an escape sequence. You can substitute [YourFolder] with the folder containing these exercises on your computer. Finally, the last line adds the data to the map and creates a map feature layer named "mylayer" which we will use in the next section.



Figure 47: Adding a Shapefile

We can add the lines of code above in the main form by overriding the OnShown method. That way, when the form is shown for the first time, it launches the map. The FeatureSet variable gives us access to all the information stored directly in the shapefile, but organized into feature classes.



Figure 48: Feature Set and Features

The simplified class diagrams from above give an idea of what kinds of information you can find directly on the FeatureSet class, or in one of the individual Features. The DataTable property returns a standard .Net System.Data.DataTable, filled with all of the attribute information. This table is also used by the SelectByAttribute expression. The Envelope is the geographic bounding box for the entire set of features. The Features property is the list of features themselves. This is enumerable, so you can cycle through the list and inspect each of the members. The FeatureType simply tells whether or not the FeatureSet contains points, lines or polygons.

The other significant vector data class shown here is the Feature. The BasicGeometry class lists all of the vertices, organized according to OGC geometric structures, such as Points, LineStrings, Polygons, and MultiGeometries of the various types. Because we were interested in making extensible data providers, we did not require these basic geometric classes to support all mathematical overlays and related operations that can be found in the various topology suites. Instead, the role of the BasicGeometry is to provide the data only interface.

We did not overlook the possibility of wanting to perform, say, an intersect operation with another feature. Instead of building the method directly into the feature class, we have instead build extension methods so that from a programmatic viewpoint, it will look like any IFeature will be able to perform Intersection calculations.



Figure 49: Extension Method

Typing a period after a class in .Net will display an automatic list of options. Continuing to type normally filters this list of options, so that you can very rapidly narrow the displayed items and reduce the chance for spelling mistakes. It also gives you an instant browse window to explore the options on a particular class. This auto-completion tool is referred to as Microsoft Intellisense. The exact

appearance of this function will depend on the version of visual studio, as well as whether or not you have any extensions like Re-Sharper loaded. If XML comments have been generated for the project, (which they have been for DotSpatial) you will not only see the methods, properties and events available, but you will also see help for each of these methods that extends to the right.

Methods are identified by having a purple box. Extension methods are represented by a purple box with a blue arrow to the right of that box. Instead of having the programming code built into the class, the code is actually separate, in an external static method. Using this technology, it becomes easy to associate a behavior like Intersects directly with the feature, but without every external data provider having to rewrite the intersection code itself.



Figure 50: Yellow Stars Code

Because we know in advance that we are working with points, we don't have to work directly with the existing classes, or use casting. We can simply use the constructor. If we pass mylayer from the earlier code into the method above, we will automatically create the outpoints shown in the following image.



Figure 51: Yellow Stars

One thing that you might notice is that the borders of the stars are hard to see because we only specified one color, and that color was the fill color. In order to give the stars black outlines, we need to call a slightly different method.

mylayer.Symbolizer = new PointSymbolizer(Color.Yellow, PointShapes.Star, 16); mylayer.Symbolizer.SetOutline(Color.Black, 1);



Figure 52: Yellow Stars with Outlines

You will notice that the layer does not control these characteristics directly. Instead, it uses a class called a Symbolizer. Symbolizers contain all of the descriptive characteristics necessary to draw something. They have a few simple accessors that allow us to work with the simple situations

like the one listed above. In this situation, we are not worried about a scheme, or complex symbols that have multiple layers. A method like SetOutline may or may not work as expected in every case, since some types of symbols do not even support outlines. However, if we inspect the parameters that we can control above, we already have the basic symbology options that were provided in previous versions of DotSpatial.

1.4.3 Character Symbols

Objective:

Use Character Symbols

In addition to the basic symbols, DotSpatial also provides access to using characters as a symbol. This is a very powerful system since character glyphs are vectors, and therefore scalable. They look good even when printing to a large region at high resolution. It is also incredibly versatile. Not only can you use pre-existing symbol fonts (like wingdings) that are on your computer, there are open source fonts that provide GIS symbols. One helpful site that has lots of GIS symbol fonts that can be downloaded for free is found here: <u>http://www.mapsymbols.com</u>. For this exercise, we are downloading and unzipping the military true type fonts from the site. Downloading and unzipping the file produces a file with the extension .ttf, which is a true type font. The next step is to find the Fonts option in the Control Panel.



Figure 53: Fonts in the Control Panel

Clicking on this folder will open the folder showing all of the currently installed true type fonts. You will

need to copy and paste the new font into this folder and it will automatically install then new font for you. In this case we are using the Military.ttf file.



Figure 54: Right Click to Paste New Font

We can verify that the new font is available directly by running DotSpatial 1.7, or our newly created program, adding a point layer, and then symbolizing with character symbols. To use character symbols, double click on the symbol in the legend. This will open the Point Symbolizer Dialog. There is a Combo-box named "Symbol Type" which enables the user to choose a new symbol type. In this case, we want to choose Character.

	Poin	t Symboli	zer Dialo	g		? ×
Symbolizer Cha	racteristics			Preview:		
Scale Mode:	Simple		~			
Smoothing	g Units:	Pixel	~			
Symbol Type:	Simple		~			
Simple	Simple Character Picture	7		A	dd to Custom Sym	bols
Style:	Star		~	Placemen	t	
Character		Opacity	T	Symbol *	Size:	<☐
Outline Use 0 Outline W	utline idth: 1			Angle:	\bigcirc	0
		acity 1		Offset X: 0 Y: 0		
				OK	Cancel	Apply

Figure 55: Switch to Characters

A	Microsoft JhengHei UI Light Al Microsoft New Tai Lue ABC Sy Microsoft PhagsPa ABC Microsoft Sans Senif ABC S Microsoft Tai Le ABC Microsoft Uighur Asc Microsoft YaHei Light ABC Microsoft YaHei Light ABC Microsoft YaHei UI ABC	C er Dialog Preview:	? ×
	Microsoft Yi Baiti ABC		Military
	MingLU-ExtB ABC MingLU-ExtB ABC MingLU_HKSCS-ExtB ABC Miriam ABC Miriam Fixed ABC Mistral ABC Modern No. 20 ABC Mongolian Baiti ABC Monotype Corsiva AGC MoolBoran ACC	Placement Symbol Size:	A A
		# Offset	
	/ 0 1 2 3 4	, 5 × 0	
	6 7 8 9 : : < = Unicode: 65	Y: 0	
		ОК	Cancel Apply

Fig	gure	56:	Choose	Military
-----	------	-----	--------	----------

Once you select military, the icons listed below in the character selection drop-down should be replaced with the new military symbols that we have just downloaded. Because many GIS

systems use true type fonts, it is possible for DotSpatial to show font types from pre-created professional font sets. Having verified that we have successfully enabled the software to use the new military font type, we will now attempt to use one of these symbols programmatically. To draw planes, we will choose the character M, which draws a character of a plane, and specify the use of the Military font name. We can also specify that they will be blue and will have a point size of 16.



mylayer.Symbolizer = new PointSymbolizer('M', "Military", Color.Blue, 16);

Figure 57: Military Plane Characters

As a side note, the Military font is slightly abnormal in that it has a huge amount of white space at the bottom of each glyph. Attempting to center the font vertically will cause problems because of all the whitespace. As a result, an added line of code catches this possibility and uses the width for centering instead. Since these symbols may not be exactly square, this may place the military symbols slightly off center. However, more professionally created symbols will be centered correctly since they will have a realistic height value that can be used for centering. It is also possible to create custom glyphs for use as point symbols using various font editor software packages.

1.4.4 Image Symbols



Sometimes, it simply isn't possible to work with fonts, however, and an image is preferable. In such a case, you can use almost any kind of image. Remember that if you have lots of points, it is better to be working with smaller images. As an example, you can download this wiki-media tiger icon to work with:

http://commons.wikimedia.org/

To use this symbol programmatically, first download the image to a file. Once you have saved the image file, you reference it using either standard file loading methods for images, or else you can embed the file as a resource to be used. We will look at embedding the image as a resource. First, from solution explorer, add a resource file named Images.

Map+eatureLayer mylaye	r)		000	Ö		P 53	
		+	Search Solut	ion Exp	olorer (Ctrl+;)		ρ-
			Solutio	n 'Buil	d_A_Map' (1 projec	:t)	_
	±	Build Rebuild Clean Publish Run Code Analysis		oper :ferei :sour op.co assD	ties nces ces onfig iagramu.cd	New Item	
	đ	Scope to This New Solution Explorer View Calculate Code Metrics		ogra	m.c		
		Add		9	New Item	Ctrl+Shift+A	
	*	Add Reference Add Service Reference		to @	Existing Item New Folder	Shift+Alt+A	
	⊞ €	View Class Diagram		1 1	Windows Form User Control		
shapefiles\Centroids	Ф	Set as StartUp Project Debug	•	1) *	Component Class	Shift+Alt+C	
	7	Add Solution to Source Control					
	¥ 1	Cut Paste	Ctrl+X Ctrl+V				
	×	Remove	Del	rer	Team Explorer		_
	X:	Rename				•	ųχ
	Unload Project			Proj	ect Properties		•
	\$	Open Folder in File Explorer					
	×	Properties	Alt+Enter		Col 72 (Ch 72	INS

Figure 58: Add a New Item

Installed Sortby: Default Default <thdefault< th=""> Default Default</thdefault<>		Add New Item -	Build_A_Map	? ×
Visual C# items Images.ress MDI Parent Form Visual C# items Affie for storing resources Octa Images.ress Report Visual C# items Affie for storing resources Web Images.ress Report Wizard Visual C# items Affie for storing resources Web Report Wizard Visual C# items Images.ress Report Wizard Visual C# items Workflow Images.ress Resources File Visual C# items Images.ress Images.ress Nonine Images.ress Service-based Database Visual C# items Images.ress Images.ress	 Installed 	Sort by: Default	Search Installed Templates (Ctrl -	E) 🔑 -
Data Report Visual C# Items Web Report Wizard Visual C# Items WF Report Wizard Visual C# Items Reporting Report Wizard Visual C# Items Workflow Image: rest Report Wizard Visual C# Items Online Image: rest Image: rest Image: rest Vorkflow Image: rest Image: rest Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vorkflow Image: rest Visual C# Items Visual C# Items	 Visual C# Items Code 	MDI Parent Form	Visual C# Items A file for storing resources	
Web Keport Wizard Visual C# Items Windows Graphics Resources File Visual C# Items Online Resources File Visual C# Items Service-based Database Visual C# Items Settings File Visual C# Items Volume Setvice-based Database Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Setvice-based Database Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Ite	Data General	Report	Visual C# Items	
WpF Resources File Visual C# Items Workflow Image: Point of the state of the	Web Windows Forms	Report Wizard	Visual C# Items	
Workflow Images:read Runtime Text Template Visual C# Items Images:read Service-based Database Visual C# Items Images:read Settings File Visual C# Items Images:read Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Images:read Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Images:read Visual C# Items Visual C# Items	WPF Reporting	Resources File	Visual C# Items	
> Online Service-based Database Visual C# Items > Settings File Visual C# Items > Style Sheet Visual C# Items > Text File Visual C# Items > Text Template Visual C# Items > WCF Service Visual C# Items > WCF Service Visual C# Items > WCF Service Visual C# Items	Workflow Graphics	Runtime Text Template	Visual C# Items	
Settings File Visual C# Items Style Sheet Visual C# Items E Text File Visual C# Items Text Template Visual C# Items VOCF Service Visual C# Items VMCF Service Visual C# Items VMCF Service Visual C# Items VMCF Service Visual C# Items	▶ Online	Service-based Database	Visual C# Items	
Name: Images.reax Style Sheet Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items		Settings File	Visual C# Items	
Text File Visual C# Items Text Template Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Visual C# Items Vote Visual C# Items		🚺 Style Sheet	Visual C# Items	
Text Template Visual C# Items Images.resx Visual C# Items		Text File	Visual C# Items	
Name: Images.resx Visual C# Items		Text Template	Visual C# Items	
Name: Images.resx		WCF Service	Visual C# Items	
Name: Images.resx			57 I AM II	
	Name: Images.resx			

Figure 59: Images.resx Resource

Choose Resources File from the available Templates, then name the resource file Images, and click Add. From the solution explorer, simply double click the newly added Images resource file to open it. Adding it for the first time should automatically open the resource file as a tab. Under the Add Resource option in the toolbar just below the Images.resx tab, choose "Add Existing File..."

d_A_Map IT VIEW	- Microsoft Visual PROJECT BUILD	tudio DEBUG TEAM SC	QL TOOLS TEST
) 📅 - 🔮	1 H P 9 - C	▶ Start - Debug	- 🎜 ₊ 🖉 8
s.resx 🔁 🗙	Form1.cs Fo	n1.cs [Design]	
:rings 👻 陷	Add Resource 👻 R	nove Resource 🛛 📰 🤊	Access Modifier: In
	Add Existing File		
Narr	Add New String	'alue	
String	New Image	+	
	Add New Icon		
	Add New Text File		

Figure 60: Add an Existing File

Then simply browse to the file we just downloaded, and add it to the resource file. To make it easier to find, we can rename the file "Tiger".



Now, we can programmatically reference this image any time using the Images.Tiger reference. Be sure to build the project after adding the image to the resource file, or else the Intellisense will not show the Tiger image yet. Adding the image to a resource file sets up the framework for the following line of code where we will specify to use the Tiger image for the point symbology:

mylayer.Symbolizer = new PointSymbolizer(Images.Tiger, 48);



Figure 62: Tiger Images

1.4.5 Point Categories

Objective:

Use Point Symbol Categories

For the next topic, we will introduce the concept of casting. In many cases, methods or properties are shared between many different types of classes. When that is true, the interface may provide the shared base class, instead of the class type that is actually being used. For instance, if you are working with points, the Symbolizer that is being used should be a PointSymbolizer. This has a shared base class with the FeatureSymbolizer.



Figure 63: Symbolizer Class Diagram

To illustrate inheritance, the class diagram above shows the three main feature symbolizers, one for points, one for lines, and one for polygons. What is most important here is that there are some characteristics that will be shared. Properties, methods and events on the FeatureSymbolizer class will also appear on each of the specialized classes. Meanwhile, each individual type has a collection of classes that actually do the drawing, but these classes are different depending on the class. In the same way, we can set up categories, but it works much more easily if we know what kind of feature layer we are working with. When working with categories, schemes, and so-on, knowing that we are working with a point layer is the difference between having to cast every single object every time, and only having to cast the feature layer once.

We will be symbolizing based on the Area field. The areas were calculated from the polygons in exercise 2, so we can be assured that the cities with areas shapefile that we are adding has an Area field, and looking at the table below, we can see that a reasonable cutoff for picking the largest cities might be

1e+08 meters.

ASTEST	GNIS	Shape_Leng	Shape_Area	Area	FID0	
	1430317	14365.25	5475225	5475224.837399	0	
	1430376	23283.93	5645427	5645455.941983	1	
	1432604	8141.043	3970477	3970477.262999	2	
	1438487	12600.65	4650615	4650614.918748	3	
	1439951	19191.47	9949497	9949496.592700	4	
	1455092	28141.66	1.648439E+07	16484389.89465	5	
	1441035	5741.849	1103788	1103787.593850	6	
	1681817	18555.58	6624372	6624372.109649	7	
	1433664	47808.38	2.020131E+07	20201313.99620	8	
	1428800	33201.48	3.035376E+07	30353762.76450	9	
	1447372	19466.44	1.837096E+07	18370962.63655	10	
	1437591	38996.5	9.176894E+07	91768941.949953	11	
	1443141	21171.15	1.466251E+07	14662512.28064	12	
	1444488	13896.84	1686444	1686443.923300	13	
	1455150	25566.11	2.070283E+07	20702830.14989	14	
	1400100	50500 7	C 4050005-07	C4250000 10700	10	

Figure 64: Large Area Cities

The source code that we are going to use has several parts to it. First, we are going to cast the layer to a MapPointLayer so that we know we are working with point data. After that, we create two separate categories, using filter expressions to separate what is drawn by each category. Finally, we add the new scheme as the layer's symbology. When the map is drawn, it will automatically show the different scheme types in the legend using whatever we specify here as the legend text.

```
IFeatureSet fs = FeatureSet.Open(@"C:\Users\Bayles\Documents\DotSpatialDev\shapefiles\Centroids of
Municipalities\Centroids.shp");
IMapFeatureLayer mylayer = map1.Layers.Add(fs);
IMapPointLayer myPointLayer = mylayer as IMapPointLayer;
if (myPointLayer == null) return;
PointScheme myScheme = new PointScheme();
myScheme.Categories.Clear();
PointCategory smallSize = new PointCategory(Color.Blue, DotSpatial.Symbology.PointShape.Rectangle,
     4);
smallSize.FilterExpression = "[Area] < 1e+08";</pre>
smallSize.LegendText = "Small Cities";
myScheme.AddCategory(smallSize);
PointCategory largeSize = new PointCategory(Color.Yellow, DotSpatial.Symbology.PointShape.Star, 16);
largeSize.FilterExpression = "[Area] >= 1e+08";
largeSize.LegendText = "Large Cities";
largeSize.Symbolizer.SetOutline(Color.Black, 1);
myScheme.AddCategory(largeSize);
myPointLayer.Symbology = myScheme;
```







Figure 66: City Categories by Area

The square brackets in the filter expression are optional, but recommended to help clarify fieldnames in the expression. What is significant here is that we did not have to write code to actually loop through all of the city shapes, test the area attribute programmatically, and then assign a symbol scheme based on the character. Instead, we simply allow the built in expression parsing to take over and handle the drawing for us. This allows for programmers to work with the objects in a way that directly mimics how users work with the symbology controls. And just like the layer dialog controls allow you to specify schemes; those schemes can also be controlled programmatically.

```
IMapPointLayer myPointLayer = mylayer as IMapPointLayer;
if (myPointLayer == null) return;
PointScheme myScheme = new PointScheme();
myScheme.Categories.Clear();
myScheme.EditorSettings.ClassificationType = ClassificationType.Quantities;
myScheme.EditorSettings.IntervalMethod = IntervalMethod.Quantile;
myScheme.EditorSettings.IntervalSnapMethod = IntervalSnapMethod.Rounding;
myScheme.EditorSettings.IntervalRoundingDigits = 5;
myScheme.EditorSettings.TemplateSymbolizer = new PointSymbolizer(Color.Yellow,
DotSpatial.Symbology.PointShape.Star, 16);
myScheme.EditorSettings.FieldName = "Area";
myScheme.CreateCategories(mylayer.DataSet.DataTable);
myPointLayer.Symbology = myScheme;
```

```
Provide a p
```

Figure 67: Example Code

This will be the last figure to include a snap shot of Visual Studio, as the implementation of each block of code follows the same format.



Figure 68: Quantile Area Categories

There are a large number of settings that can be controlled directly using the PointScheme. In this

illustration the classification type is quantities, but this can also be UniqueValues or custom. The categories can always be edited programmatically after they are created, but this simply controls what will happen when the CreateCategories method is ultimately called. The interval snap methods include none, rounding, significant figures, and snapping to the nearest value. These can help the appearance of the categories in the legend, but it can also cause trouble. With Significant figures, the IntervalRoundingDigits controls the number of significant figures instead. One property is deceptive in its power. The TemplateSymbolizer property allows you to control the basic appearance of the categories for any property that is not being controlled by either the size or color ramping. For example, if we wanted to add black borders to the stars above, we would simply add that to the template symbolizer. In this case we chose to make them appear as stars and controlled them to have equal sizes since UseSizeRange defaults to false, but UseColorRange defaults to true.



Figure 69: Available Feature Editor Settings

The settings shown in the exercise above represent a small taste of the scheme options that are programmatically available. You can also control the color range, whether or not the colors should be ramped or randomly created, a normalization field, an exclusion expression to eliminate outliers and in the case of polygons, a consistently applied gradient.





One of the new additions to how symbols work is that you are no longer restricted to representing things using a single symbol. Complex symbols can be created, simply by adding symbols to the Symbolizer.Symbols list. There are three basic kinds of symbols, Simple, Character and Image based. These have some common characteristics, like the Angle, Offset and Size, which are stored on the base class. In the derived classes, the characteristics that are specific to the sub-class control those

aspects of symbology. For creating new symbols, the Subclass can be used. For working with individual symbols in the collection, you may need to test what type of symbol you are working with before you will be able to control its properties.



Figure 70: Point Symbol Class Diagram

The class diagram above shows the organization of the individual symbols.

PointSymbolizer myPointSymbolizer = new PointSymbolizer(Color.Blue,DotSpatial.Symbology.PointShape.Ellipse, 16); myPointSymbolizer.Symbols.Add(new SimpleSymbol(Color.Yellow,DotSpatial.Symbology.PointShape.Star, 10)); mylayer.Symbolizer = myPointSymbolizer;



Figure 71: Blue Circles with Yellow Stars

1.5 Programmatic Line Symbology

1.5.1 Adding Line Layers



Line layers operate according to the same rules as points for the most part, except that instead of individual symbols, we can have individual strokes. The default symbology is to have a single line layer of a random color that is one pixel wide.



Figure 72: Add Line Layer

1.5.2. Simple Line symbols



private void BrownRoads(IMapFeatureLayer mylayer)
{
 mylayer.Symbolizer = new LineSymbolizer(Color.Brown, 1);
}



Figure 73: Brown Lines

1.5.3. Outlined Symbols

Objective:

Yellow Roads with Black Outlines

The line symbology is similar to the point symbology in that it also shares certain shortcut methods like "SetOutline". The distinction is that unlike the simple symbol, strokes cannot come pre-equipped with an outline. Instead, the appearance of an outline is created by making two passes with two separate strokes. The first stroke is wider, and black. The second stroke is narrower and yellow. The result is a set of lines that appear to be connected. In order to get a clean look at the intersections, all the black lines are drawn first. Then, all the yellow lines are drawn. This way, the intersections appear to have continuous paths of yellow, rather than every individual shape being terminated by a curving black outline.

```
LineSymbolizer road = new LineSymbolizer(Color.Yellow, 5);
road.SetOutline(Color.Black, 1);
mylayer.Symbolizer = road;
```



Figure 74: Unique Values

1.5.4 Unique Values



One of the more useful abilities is to be able to programmatically apply symbology by unique values, without having to worry about what those values are or negotiate the actual color in each case. Simply specify a classification type of UniqueValues and a classification field, and DotSpatial does the rest. In this case, the default editor settings will create a hue ramp with a saturation and lightness in the range from .7 to .8. The editor settings can be used to control the acceptable range using the Start and End color. There is a Boolean property called HueSatLight. If this is true, then the ramp is created by adjusting the hue, saturation and lightness between the start and end colors. If this is false, then the red, blue and green values are ramped instead. In both cases, alpha (transparency) is ramped the same way.

LineScheme myScheme = new LineScheme(); myScheme.EditorSettings.ClassificationType =
ClassificationType.UniqueValues; myScheme.EditorSettings.FieldName = "CARTO";
myScheme.CreateCategories(mylayer.DataSet.DataTable);
mylayer.Symbology = myScheme;



Figure 75: Roads with Unique Values

1.5.5 Custom Categories

```
Objective:
```

Custom Road Categories

In the previous example, the legend shows a collapsible field name in order to clarify the meaning of the values appearing for each category. This can also be accomplished manually by controlling the "AppearsInLegend" property on the scheme. If this is false, the categories will appear directly below the layer. When it is true, you can control the text in the legend using the scheme itself. Showing this principal in action, in this sample we will show the code that will programmatically set up two categories, and also have them appear under a scheme in the legend.

```
LineScheme myScheme = new LineScheme(); myScheme.Categories.Clear();
LineCategory low = new LineCategory(Color.Blue, 2);
low.FilterExpression = "[CARTO] = 3";
low.LegendText ="Low";
LineCategory high = new LineCategory(Color.Red, Color.Black, 6, DashStyle.Solid,
LineCap.Triangle);
high.FilterExpression = "[CARTO] = 2";
```

high.LegendText = "High"; myScheme.AppearsInLegend = true; myScheme.LegendText = "CARTO"; myScheme.Categories.Add(low); myScheme.Categories.Add(high); mylayer.Symbology = myScheme;



Figure 76: Custom Line Categories

1.5.6 Compound Lines



Each individual LineSymbolizer is made up of at least one, but potentially several strokes overlapping each other. The two main forms of strokes that are supported natively by DotSpatial are Simple Strokes and Cartographic Strokes. Cartographic strokes have a few more options that allow for custom dash configurations as well as specifying line decorations. Decorations are basically just point symbols that can appear at the end of the stroke, or evenly arranged along the length of the stroke.



Figure 59: Stroke Class Hierarchy

In this example, we will take advantage of several powerful symbology options. We will use cartographic strokes in order to create two very different type of line styles. In the first case, we will create brown railroad ties. Using the standard "Dot" option for a simple cartographic line would not work because the dots created are proportional to the line width. However, with a custom dash pattern, it is possible to set the lines so that the dashes are thinner than the line width itself. The two numbers used in the dash pattern do not represent offsets, but rather the lengths of the dash and non-dash elements that alternate. This is convenient, since for our repeating ties, we really only need to specify two numbers.

The second layer of the symbol will be dark gray rails. In this case, the dash pattern is continuous, so we will not need to change it. However, the rails don't persist the whole way across the line the way the ties do. Instead, we want to have two thin lines that appear along the path width. To do this, we take advantage of a CompoundArray. With the compound array, you are expressing the actual offsets for the start and end positions along the compound array, where 0 is the left of the line and 1 is the right. In some cases, lines that are two thin may not get drawn at all, so try to ensure that the width of the lines represented in the Compound array work out to be just slightly larger than 1 to ensure that the lines ultimately get drawn.

In the code below, the start and end caps are also specified. By default these are set to round, which will end up producing gray circles at each of the intersections. By specifying that the end caps should be flat, no extension will be added to ends of the lines. Rounded caps look the best for solid lines because it creates a kind of rounded, buffered look to roads that are wider than one pixel.

using System.Drawing.Drawing2D;

```
LineSymbolizer mySymbolizer = new LineSymbolizer();
mySymbolizer.Strokes.Clear();
CartographicStroke ties = new CartographicStroke(Color.Brown);
ties.DashPattern = new float[] {1/6f, 2/6f};
ties.Width = 6;
ties.EndCap = LineCap.Flat; ties.StartCap = LineCap.Flat;
CartographicStroke rails = new CartographicStroke(Color.DarkGray);
rails.CompoundArray = new float[]{.15f,.3f,.6f,.75f};
rails.Width = 6;
rails.EndCap = LineCap.Flat;
rails.StartCap = LineCap.Flat;
mySymbolizer.Strokes.Add(ties);
mySymbolizer.Strokes.Add(rails);
mylayer.Symbolizer = mySymbolizer;
```



Figure 77: Multi-Stroke Railroads

1.5.7. Line Decorations

Objective:

Lines Decorated by Stars

One of the features with this generation of DotSpatial is the ability to add point decorations to lines. Each decoration has one symbolizer and can operate with several positioning options. Each stroke can support multiple decorations, so there is a great deal of customizable patterns available. The decorations can also be given an offset so that the decoration can appear on one side of the line or another. In this case, we will be adding yellow stars to a blue line.

```
LineDecoration star = new LineDecoration();
star.Symbol = new PointSymbolizer(Color.Yellow,DotSpatial.Symbology.PointShape.Star, 16);
star.Symbol.SetOutline(Color.Black, 1);
star.NumSymbols = 1;
CartographicStroke blueStroke = new CartographicStroke(Color.Blue);
blueStroke.Decorations.Add(star);
LineSymbolizer starLine = new LineSymbolizer();
starLine.Strokes.Clear();
starLine.Strokes.Add(blueStroke); mylayer.Symbolizer =
starLine;
```



Figure 78: Lines with Star Decorations

1.6 Programmatic Polygon Symbology

1.6.1 Add Polygon Layers

Objective:

Add a Polygon Layer to the Map

Polygon layers are another representation of vector content where there is an area being surrounded by a boundary. Polygons can have any number of holes, which are represented as inner rings that should not be filled. However, in order to represent a shape like Hawaii, which has several islands, as a single shape, you would use a MultiPolygon instead. A MultiPolygon is still considered to be a geometry and will respond to all of the geometry methods, like Intersects. We can add the polygon shapefile the same way that we added the point or line shapefiles.

Polygon symbolizers are slightly different from the other two symbolizers because in the case of polygons, we have to describe both the borders and the interior. Since the borders are basically just lines, rather than replicating all the symbology options as part of the polygon symbolizer directly, each polygon symbolizer references a line symbolizer in order to describe the borders. This is a similar strategy to re-using the PointSymbolizer in order to describe the decorations that can appear on lines.

IFeatureSet fs = FeatureSet.Open(@"[Your Folder]\DotSpatialDev\shapefiles\Counties.Shp")
IMapFeatureLayer mylayer = map1.layers.Add(fs);



Figure 79: Add County Boundaries

1.6.2. Simple Patterns



The simplest task with polygons is to set the fill color for those polygons. You will see that specifying only an interior fill creates a continuous appearance, since the normal boundaries are adjacent and all the same color.



PolygonSymbolizer lightblue = new PolygonSymbolizer(Color.LightBlue); lightblue.OutlineSymbolizer = new LineSymbolizer(Color.Blue, 1); mylayer.Symbolizer = lightblue;

1.6.3. Gradients



One of the more elegant symbology options is to apply a gradient. These can vary in type from linear, to circular to rectangular, with the most frequently used type of gradient by far being linear. If you want to apply a continuous gradient across the entire layer, you can use the default category and simply specify the symbolizer. Unlike the previous example where we directly set up the outline symbolizer, in this example we are taking advantage of the shared method "SetOutline" which does the same thing. For points, this method controls the symbols themselves. For lines, this adds a

slightly larger stroke beneath the existing strokes. For polygons, this controls the line symbolizer that is used to draw the outline. The gradient angle is specified in degrees, moving counter-clockwise from the positive x axis.

```
PolygonSymbolizer blueGradient =
new PolygonSymbolizer(Color.LightSkyBlue, Color.DarkBlue, 45, GradientType.Linear);
blueGradient.SetOutline(Color.Yellow, 1);
mylayer.Symbolizer = blueGradient;
```



Figure 82: Continuous Blue Gradient

1.6.4. Individual Gradients



Another possible symbology is to create the gradients so that they are shape specific. This is not really recommended in the case of large numbers of polygons because the drawing gets linearly slower for each specific drawing call. You can draw thousands of polygons with one call by having only one symbolic class to describe all the polygons. In the case of a few hundred classes, this distinction is not really noticeable. To rapidly create different categories, we can take advantage of the "name" which different field is for each of the major shapes in the shapefile. PolygonSymbolizer blueGradient =new PolygonSymbolizer(Color.LightSkyBlue, Color.DarkBlue, -45, GradientType.Linear); PolygonScheme myScheme = new PolygonScheme(); myScheme.EditorSettings.TemplateSymbolizer = blueGradient; myScheme.EditorSettings.UseColorRange = false; myScheme.EditorSettings.ClassificationType = ClassificationType.UniqueValues; myScheme.EditorSettings.FieldName = "nam"; myScheme.CreateCategories(mylayer.DataSet.DataTable); mylayer.Symbology = myScheme;



Figure 83: Individual Gradients

1.6.5 Multi-Colored Gradient

```
Objective: Cool Colors with Gradient
```

One thing that may seem less than obvious is that in the previous exercise we specified that the UseGradient property should be false. This does not prevent the template symbolizer from having a gradient. Instead, it prevents the symbolizer from overriding the original, presumably simpler, template with a gradient symbol. The gradient symbol will be calculated using a color from the color range, but then will make the upper left a little lighter and the lower right a little darker. That way, you can have the same subtle gradient applied, but still use different colors for each category. To boot, the default polygon symbolizer has a border that is the same hue, but slightly darker, which tends to create a nice outline color.

```
PolygonScheme myScheme = new PolygonScheme();
myScheme.EditorSettings.StartColor = Color.LightGreen;
myScheme.EditorSettings.EndColor = Color.LightBlue;
myScheme.EditorSettings.ClassificationType = ClassificationType.UniqueValues;
myScheme.EditorSettings.FieldName = "name";
myScheme.EditorSettings.UseGradient = true;
myScheme.CreateCategories(mylayer.DataSet.DataTable);
```

mylayer.Symbology = myScheme;



Figure 84: Unique Cool Colors with Gradient

1.6.6. Custom Polygon Categories

Objective:

Custom Polygon Categories

An important terminology difference here that we have been using is the difference between Symbolizer and Symbology. With Symbology, we are always referring to a scheme, which can have many categories. With a Symbolizer, we are talking about controlling how those shapes are drawn for one category. By default, all the feature layers start with a scheme that has exactly one category, which has a symbolizer with exactly one drawing element (symbol, line or pattern). The Symbolizer property on a layer is a shortcut to the top-most category. If you have several categories, it may be better to control the symbolizers explicitly than to use the shortcut. Labels have been added to the layer below in order to illustrate that the two pink shapes are in fact shapes that start with G. The actual labeling code will be illustrated under a separate section under labeling.

```
PolygonScheme scheme = new PolygonScheme();
PolygonCategory washington = new PolygonCategory(Color.LightBlue,
        Color.DarkBlue, 1);
washington.FilterExpression = "[name] = 'Washington'";
washington.LegendText = "Washington";
PolygonCategory gWords = new PolygonCategory(Color.Pink, Color.DarkRed, 1);
gWords.FilterExpression = "[name] Like 'G*'";
gWords.LegendText = "G - Words";
```

```
scheme.ClearCategories();
scheme.AddCategory(washington);
scheme.AddCategory(gWords);
mylayer.ShowLabels = true;
mylayer.Symbology = scheme;
```

S DotSpatial 1.7	
File Extensions	
E Counties	
Washington	
G - Words	
	1
	GRAND
	<u> </u>
	GAREIELD
	WASHINGTON
Ready.	

Figure 85: Custom Categories

1.6.7 Compound Patterns



Like the other previous symbolizers, polygon symbolizers can be built out of overlapping drawing elements. In this case they are referred to as patterns. The main patterns currently supported are simple, gradient, picture and hatch patterns. Simple patterns are a solid fill color, while gradient patterns can work with gradients set up as an array of colors organized in floating point positions from 0 to 1. The angle controls the direction of linear and rectangular gradients. Hatch patterns can be built from an enumeration of hatch styles. Picture patterns allow for scaling and rotating a selected picture from a file.



Figure 86: Pattern Class Diagram

One thing in particular to note about this next example is that in all the previous examples with multiple patterns, we simply cleared out the default pattern that was automatically created as part of the symbolizer. When we add a new pattern, the new pattern gets drawn on top of the previous patterns, so the last pattern added has the highest drawing priority. In the code below, the new pattern has its background color set to transparent, yet in the image below we see that the coloring is red stripes against a blue background. The pattern below the red-stripe pattern is the default pattern, and will be randomly generated as a different color each time.



Figure 87: Hatch Patterns

1.7 Programmatic Labels



For the first example with labels, we will show adding your own text in a way so that the same text gets added to all the features. This uses the default settings, and you can see from the default settings that there is no background, and each label has the left side aligned with the center point by default.

```
IMapLabelLayer labelLayer = new MapLabelLayer();
labelLayer.Symbology.Categories[0].Expression = "Test";
myLayer.ShowLabels = true;
myLayer.LabelLayer = labelLayer;
```



Figure 88: Adding Test Labels

1.7.1 Field Name Expressions

Objective: F

Field Name Labels

The field name in this case describes the name of the territory. In order for the name field to appear in the label text, we simply enclose it in square brackets. This puts together a versatile scenario where you can build complex expressions with various field names. You can also use escape characters to create multi-line labels.
```
IMapLabelLayer labelLayer = new MapLabelLayer(); ILabelCategory
category = labelLayer.Symbology.Categories[0]; category.Expression
= "[NAME]";
category.Symbolizer.Orientation = ContentAlignment.MiddleCenter;
myLayer.ShowLabels = true;
myLayer.LabelLayer = labelLayer;
```



Figure 89: Field Name Labels

1.7.2 Multi-Line Labels

```
Objective:
```

Multi-Line Labels

Creating multi-line labels is simple, since all you have to do is use the standard .Net new-line character, which in C# is added using the \n, while in visual basic you would combine the two strings with a vbNewLine element between them. The relative position of the multiple lines is controlled by the Alignment property on the label Symbolizer. In order to minimize confusion, the labels follow the same organization with a scheme, categories and symbolizers. A filter expression also allows us to control which labels are added.

```
IMapLabelLayer labelLayer = new MapLabelLayer(); ILabelCategory
category = labelLayer.Symbology.Categories[0]; category.Expression
= "[NAME]\nPopulation: [POP_LASTCE]"; category.FilterExpression =
"[NAME] Like 'G*'"; category.Symbolizer.BackColorEnabled = true;
```

category.Symbolizer.BorderVisible = true; category.Symbolizer.Orientation = ContentAlignment.MiddleCenter; category.Symbolizer.Alignment = StringAlignment.Center; myLayer.ShowLabels = true; myLayer.LabelLayer = labelLayer;



Figure 90: Multi-Line Labels

Multiple label categories can be created and added to the scheme in the same way that the featuresets were able to add different categories. The labels also allow for the font to be controlled, as well as the text color, background color and opacity of either.

1.7.3. Translucent Labels



The background color in this case has been set to transparent by specifying an alpha value of something less than 255 when setting the BackColor. Frequently, there are opacity properties available in addition to the actual color, but that is just there for serialization purposes. This example also illustrates the use of the compound conjunction "OR" in the filter expression. Other powerful terms that can be used are "AND" and "NOT" as well as the combined expression "Is Null" which is case insensitive and can identify null values separately from empty strings for instance. Notice that is not "= null" which doesn't work with .Net DataTables. For the negative you could use "NOT [NAME] is null".

```
IMapLabelLayer labelLayer = new MapLabelLayer();
ILabelCategory category = labelLayer.Symbology.Categories[0];
category.Expression = "[NAME]\nPopulation: [POP_LASTCE]";
```

```
category.FilterExpression = "[NAME] = 'Tooele' OR [NAME] = 'Kane'";
category.Symbolizer.BackColorEnabled = true;
category.Symbolizer.BackColor = Color.FromArgb(128, Color.LightBlue);
category.Symbolizer.BorderVisible = true;
category.Symbolizer.FontStyle = FontStyle.Bold;
category.Symbolizer.FontColor = Color.DarkRed;
category.Symbolizer.Orientation = ContentAlignment.MiddleCenter;
category.Symbolizer.Alignment = StringAlignment.Center;
mylayer.ShowLabels = true;
mylayer.LabelLayer = labelLayer;
```



Figure 91: Translucent Labels

1.8. Programmatic Raster Symbology



```
Objective:
```

Download a Raster Layer

In addition to the vector data that we have been looking at so far, DotSpatial also supports a number of raster formats. Rasters are considered distinct from images for us in that the visual representation that we see is derived from the values much in the way that we derive the polygon images from the actual data. With rasters, you typically have a rectangular arrangement of values that are organized in rows and columns. For datasets that don't have complete sampling, a "No-Data" value allows the raster to only represent a portion of the total area.

Because of the existence of extensible data format providers, there is no way to tell just how many formats DotSpatial will support at the time you are reading this. We have created a plug-in that is exclusive to the windows platform using Frank Warmerdan's GDAL libraries and C# linkage files. The

plug-in exposes many of the raster and image types supported by GDAL to DotSpatial 1.7, or any project that adds our ApplicationManager component. In the Plugins and Extensions section there is a tutorial on how to incorporate this extension into your program.





Figure 93: File Formats Available with GDAL

For this example we have installed the GDAL extension so we can use many more file formats. If you do not wish to install the plugin you will have to use a .bgd file. For the next step we will download a DEM from http://gis.utah.gov/. For this exercise we chose to download the 90 meter statewide DEM.





One thing that should be fairly obvious right away is that while similar to the previous examples, a raster is a completely different data object. Instead of working with features and concentrating on ideas like geometries, rasters give you direct access to the numerical data stored in grid form. Inheritance at different levels is certainly used, but most of that occurs under the hood. The Raster class gives you a friendly user interface that works regardless of what kind of drivers are operating under the hood. The primary benefit to you is that writing the code becomes a lot simpler because you don't need to worry about what kind of raster you are working with.



Figure 94: Default Raster

Sometimes the symbology is thrown off by an unexpected no-data value. We can use the symbolizer interface for rasters in DotSpatial by double clicking next to the elevation layer in the legend. This will launch a dialog like the one below.



Figure 95: Graph

Sometimes the graph will not display properly. In order to have it fix this simply change one of the data values such as the number of separations and click cancel. Once you reopen the interface, the graph should display properly.

We can see right away that of the many sample points that were taken from this image that the majority of them lie in the 1-4000 range. We can change the value of the separation by dragging the bars along the graph. We can also change the values numerically by double clicking "Value" column on the table. By right clicking on the graph we can also zoom to a specific category. In addition we change the color options from this menu.



Figure 96: Layer Properties

The next step is to modify these values programmatically. Unfortunately for unknown reasons we cannot modify the view range of the DEM of Utah. It appears that there is a problem with the DEM itself. Even after converting it to different file formats it does not function. For the following examples we will use a DEM downloaded from http://www.charttiff.com/Index.htm on their sample page.

1.8.3 Control Category Range



The only thing to notice when controlling the range is that you can control the range values independently from modifying the legend text. In order to update the legend text based on other settings, we can use the ApplyMinMax settings. Alternately, we could have set the legend text directly, just as we can for the other categories. Since the new DEM we downloaded has a range of about 3,200 to 3700, we will split the range values in half. The first category will go from 3,200 to 3,450 and the second category will go from 3,440 to 3,700.

private void ControlRange(IMapRasterLayer myLayer)

```
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[0].Range = new Range(3200, 3450);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[0].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].Range = new Range(3440, 3700);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.WriteBitmap();
}
```



Figure 97: Programmatic Restrict Range

1.8.4. Shaded Relief



myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[0].Range = new Range(3200, 3450); myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[0].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings); myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].Range = new Range(3440, 3700);

```
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.Symbolizer.ShadedRelief.ElevationFactor = 1; myLayer.Symbolizer.ShadedRelief.IsUsed
= true;
```

```
myLayer.WriteBitmap();
```



Figure 98: With Lighting

1.8.5. Predefined Schemes



There are several pre-defined color schemes that can be used. All of the pre-set schemes basically use two separate ramps that subdivide the range and apply what is essentially a coloring theme to the two ranges. Those ranges are easily adjustable using the range characteristics on the category, but should be adjusted after the scheme has been chosen, or else applying the new scheme will overwrite the previous range choices.

```
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.ApplyScheme(ColorSchemeType.Glaciers, myLayer.DataSet);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[0].Range = new Range(3200, 3450);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[0].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].Range = new Range(3440, 3700);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.Categories[1].ApplyMinMax(myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings);
myLayer.Symbolizer.ShadedRelief.ElevationFactor = 1;
myLayer.Symbolizer.ShadedRelief.IsUsed = true;
myLayer.WriteBitmap();
```



Figure 99: Glaciers

1.8.6 Edit Raster Values



Fix Raster Values

Previously, we have been using tricks to color the elevation but where we directly ignored the values that were either no-data values that read 0, or else apparently bad data values that showed impossible values like 65,000. In this section we will use the raster data class itself in order to repair the values programmatically. This will only alter the copy that we have in memory and will not overwrite the values to the disk unless we specifically instruct it to do so. In the example below, we can cycle through all of the values in the raster using the NumRows and NumColumns properties to give us an idea of what the bounds are on the loops. The Value property takes a double index, and will work with whatever the real data type is and convert that data type into doubles. We can use this to quickly clean up the values on the raster before we ever create a layer. We can also assign the no data value on the raster so that it matches the 0 values that cover a large portion of the raster. This will automatically eliminate it from the statistical calculations so that our default symbology should look better.

```
IRaster r = Raster.Open(@"C:\Users\Matt\Documents\DotSpatialDev\Rasters\sampleDEM\044121a1.dem");
r.NoDataValue = 0;
for (int row = 0; row < r.NumRows; row++)
{
    for (int col = 0; col < r.NumColumns; col++)
    {
        if (r.Value[row, col] > 3700) r.Value[row, col] = 3700;
    }
ImapRasterLayer mylayer = map1.Layers.Add(r);
```



Figure 100: Default Symbology of Fixed Raster

This looks better, and if we double click on the elevation layer, we can take a look at what the statistical plot automatically shows. Assigning the no-data value can be risky because there may be values that were using the old no-data value. This can easily be fixed by cycling through the raster in the same way and adjusting values so that they work with the given statistics.

1.8.7. Quantile Breaks

```
Objective: Quantile Break Values
```

Just like the FeatureSets, Rasters can use the EditorSettings property in order to customize how to build schemes, rather than having to specify the schemes directly. This is where our previous edits to fix the raster values become more important. If we had tried to apply quantile breaks before, instead of coloring the raster appropriately, we would have had all but one of the ranges read 0-0. Now, we get a reasonable range.

```
myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings.IntervalMethod = IntervalMethods.Quantile;
myLayer.Symbolizer.EditorSettings.NumBreaks = 5;
myLayer.Symbolizer.Scheme.CreateCategories(myLayer.DataSet);
myLayer.Symbolizer.ShadedRelief.ElevationFactor = 1; myLayer.Symbolizer.ShadedRelief.IsUsed = true;
```

myLayer.WriteBitmap();



Figure 101: Quantile Breaks



Figure 102: Raster Symbology Classes

1.9. Extension Methods

Objective:

Extension Methods

Rasters



on a raster. Many useful methods are actually supported in the form of "Extension Methods". For the raster, this includes useful methods that can alter the raster bounds, like Translate, or Scale, or Rotate. But other useful abilities like CreateHillShade actually use the raster values themselves in order to calculate a floating point value that helps to control the shaded relief aspect of any image that is created Other from а raster. methods like GetRandomValues, and GetNearestValue are helpful for doing analysis, but one of the most critical methods is CellToProj and ProjToCell, which allows the developer to easily go back and forth between geospatial coordinates and the row and column indicies.

Not all of the methods are supported directly

Feature

Featu Static	reExt 🔶 Class
Met	hods
Ø,	Area
Ø.	Buffer (+ 7 overloads)
Q.	Centroid
Q.	Contains (+ 1 overload)
Q.	ConvexHull (+ 1 overload)
Q,	CoveredBy (+ 1 overload)
Ø.	Covers (+ 1 overload)
Q,	Crosses (+ 1 overload)
0	Difference (+ 2 overloads)
Ø,	Disjoint (+ 1 overload)
Q.	Distance (+ 1 overload)
Q.	Intersection (+ 2 overloads)
Q.	Intersects (+ 2 overloads)
Q.	IsWithinDistance (+ 1 overload)
Q.	Overlaps (+ 1 overload)
Ø.	Relates (+ 1 overload)
Q.	SymmetricDifference (+ 2 overloads)
Ø.	Touches (+ 1 overload)
Q.	Union (+ 2 overloads)
Ø.	Within (+ 1 overload)

Figure 104: Feature Extension

Feature, and in fact any class that implements the IFeature interface will be extended with the geometry methods that are so critical to vector calculations. These not only include the overlay operations like Intersection, Union and Symmetric Difference, but all the tests that you might want to use like touches or within. Some of the bonus methods are methods like Area, which calculates the areas of polygons. Another is Centroid, which calculates the center of mass for geometries. ConvexHull can be used to simplify a geometry in the same way that you would simplify something by wrapping it with an elastic band. It draws straight lines past concave sections, and follows around with the convex portions. The Distance tool finds the minimum distance between two geometries, and the IsWithinDistance simply changes the Distance calculation to test it against a threshold.

1.10 Adding Additional Plugins and Extensions

Objective:

Plugins and Extensions

Throughout this tutorial we have used several plugins and extensions in order to make a basic GIS application. Since DotSpatial uses a "plugin architecture" it is relatively easy to add extensions and plugins to your project. In this section we will cover step by step how to install some of the more useful and common plugins and extensions available for DotSpatial. If you have already gone through this whole document then much of this will be review. For each tutorial we will start with a blank project, however, for complete details on creating the project see 1.10.1.



As mentioned previously, adding the GDAL extension will allow your project to use many more types of data. GDAL stands for "Geospatial Data Abstraction Layer" and is an Open source project by Frank Warmarda. It is used in nearly every GIS application including ArcGIS. In DotSpatial it is used through an extension and an "AppManger." Be sure to download DotSpatial before beginning. The first thing we need to do is to start a new Visual Studio Project. We will name our project GDAL. Make sure to use the C# template and to select "Windows Forms Application."



Figure 105: New Project

We next need to add a .Net Framework Assembly reference to "System.ComponentModel. Composition." Right click on the "References" folder in the "Solution Explorer" and click "Add Reference."



Figure 106: Reference Folder

Go the "Assemblies" tab and click on "Framework." Scroll down until you come to "System.ComponentModel.Composition" and select it.

ference Manager - G	DAL			8
Assemblies	Targetin	g: .NET Framework 4.5		Search Assemblies (Ctrl+E)
Framework		Name	Version	A Name:
Extensions		PresentationFramework	4.0.0.0	System.ComponentModel.Com
Recent		PresentationFramework.Aero	4.0.0.0	acitian
P.1.1		PresentationFramework.Aero2	4.0.0.0	Add this
Solution		PresentationFramework.AeroLite	40.00	Add this
COM		PresentationFramework Lupa	4000	framouvork
_		PresentationFramework Royale	4000	Indiffework
Browse		ReachFramework	40.00	4.0.50519.18020
		sysglobl	4.0.0.0	
	1	System	1000	
		System.Activities	4.0.0.0	
		System.Activities.Core.Presentation	4.0.0.0	
		System.Activities.DurableInstanding	4.0.0.0	
		System.Activities.Presentation	4.0.0.0	
		System.Add	4.0.0.0	
		System.Adumeontract	4.0.0.0	
	2	System.ComponentModel.Composition	4.0.0	
		System.ComponentModel.Composition.Regist	40.00	
		System.ComponentModel.DataAnnotations	4000	
		System Configuration Install	4000	
		System.Core	4.0.0.0	
	1	System.Data	4.0.0.0	
	1	System.Data.DataSetExtensions	4.0.0.0	
		System.Data.Entity	4.0.0.0	
		System.Data.Entity.Design	4.0.0.0	*
				Proven OK Conset
				Drowse OK Cancel

Figure 107: System.ComponentModel.Composition

Next go to the "Browse" tab and browse to where you saved the DotSpatial download. Be sure to use the unzipped folder and make sure that it is not blocked. In this folder you will find the DotSpatial dlls. Select all of them and click "Add."



Figure 108: DotSpatial dlls

Reference Manager - GDAL Assemblies			Search Browse (Ctrl+E)
Solution COM Browse Recent	Name DotSpatial.Controls.dll DotSpatial.Controls.dll DotSpatial.Mondoling.For. DotSpatial.Mondoling.For. DotSpatial.Projections.F., DotSpatial.Projections.F., DotSpatial.Symbology.dll DotSpatial.Symbology.dll DotSpatial.Symbology.dll DotSpatial.Projections.fl DotSpatial.Projections.fl DotSpatial.Projections.fl DotSpatial.Projections.fl DotSpatial.Projections.fl DotSpatial.Projections.fl DotSpatial.Analytis.dll DotSpatial.Analytis.dll	Path Cr\User\Matt\Document\DotSpatialDe\DotSpatialDotSpati Cr\User\MattDocument\DotSpatialDe\DotSpatialDotSpati Cr\User\MattDocumentDotSpatialDe\DotSpatialDotSpati	Click OK
			Browse OK Cancel

Figure 109: Add the dlls

You're references folder should now look like Figure 110.



Figure 110: Updated Reference Folder

Before we can the "AppManger" and other map components we will need to add the DotSpatial Controls to our toolbox. Go to the toolbox tab and right click to add a new tab. We will call this tab "DotSpatial."



Figure 111: Toolbox

Right click on your new tab and select "Choose Items."



Figure 112: Choose Items

A new window will appear. Click on "Browse."

Silverlight	t Components	Wind	ows Phon	e Silverlight Co	mponents	WPF Comp	onents
.NET Fran	mework Comp	onents	COMC	omponents	Syster	n.Activities Comp	onents
Name 🔺	Namespace	Assembly Name	Version	Directory			
AccessDa	System.Weł	System.Web	4.0.0.0	Global As			
ActionsP	Microsoft.0	Microsoft.Office	9.0.0.0	Global As			
Activity	System.Wor	System.Workflox	4.0.0.0	Global As	Click B	rowse	
AddGrou	Microsoft.T	Microsoft.Teaml	11.0.0.0	Global As			
AddGrou	Microsoft.T	Microsoft.Teaml	12.0.0.0	Global As			
ADODC	Microsoft.V	Microsoft.Visual	10.0.0.0	Global As			
ADODCA	Microsoft.V	Microsoft.Visual	10.0.0.0	Global As			
AdRotate	System.Weł	System.Web.Mo	4.0.0.0	Global As			
AdRotate	System.Web	System.Web	4.0.0.0	Global As			
AngleCo	DotSpatial.S	DotSpatial.Symb	0.11.9.6	c:\progra			
lter:							Clear
AccessDataS Lan Vers	Source guage: Invaria sion: 4.0.0.0	nt Language (Inva	riant Cour	ntry)			Browse
Ver	sion: 4.0.0.0						

Figure 113: Toolbox Items

Browse once again to your DotSpatial folder and select "DotSpatial.Controls.dll"

Favorites Documents library Arrange by: Fol © Desktop Docspatial Date modified Type Size	Organize 👻 New folde	er				川• 🗍
Date modified Type Size Precent Places ab-MO 5.75/2015 8:25 AM File folder OneDrive DemoMap.exe 7/25/2014 2:48 AM Application 33 KB Libraries DotSpatial.Ansylvs.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 38 KB Decuments DotSpatial.Compatibility.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 38 KB Decuments DotSpatial.Compatibility.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 38 KB Distrust DotSpatial.Compatibility.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 38 KB Videos DotSpatial.Comteck.all 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 39 KB Videos DotSpatial.Modeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 90 KB Computer DotSpatial.Modeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 10 KB S OS (C) DotSpatial.Modeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 5 KB S OS (C) DotSpatial.Positioning.Deign.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 5 KB S OS (C) DotSpatial.Positioning.Deign.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 5 KB D otSpatial.Positioning.Deign.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 5 KB D otSpatial.Positioning.Deign.dll 7/25/2014 2	🔶 Favorites 📰 Desktop	Documents library DotSpatial				Arrange by: Folder -
Bit Recent Places Description OneDrive DemoMp.pcc 7/5/2015.825.AM File Folder Debrive DemoMp.pcc 7/5/2014.248 AM Application 33 KB Districe Dospatial.Analysis.dll 7/25/2014.248 AM Application 33 KB Districe Dospatial.Analysis.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 26 KB Documents Dospatial.Controls.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 38 KB Distribution Dospatial.Data.fill 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Pictures Dospatial.Data.fill 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Videos Dospatial.Data.fill 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Computer Dospatial.Modeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 94 KB S OS (C) Dospatial.Modeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 54 KB S YSTEM (E) Dospatial.Modeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DL File 54 KB S OS (C) Dospatial.Spatial.Modeling.Forms.dlll 7/25/2014.247 AM D	🎉 Downloads	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	
OneDrive DemoMap.exe 7/25/2014.248 AM Application 33 K8 Libraries OrdSpatial.Analysis.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 26 K8 OutSpatial.Compatibility.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 28 K8 Music OptSpatial.Controls.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 39 K8 Music OptSpatial.Controls.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 39 K8 Videos OptSpatial.Enterns.nlll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 39 K8 Computer OptSpatial.Enterns.nlll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 K8 Strip OptSpatial.Enterns.ndll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 K8 Strip OptSpatial.Enterning.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 K8 Strip OptSpatial.Positioning.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DL File 5 K8	📃 Recent Places	th-MO	5/15/2015 8:25 AM	File folder		
Ubrasies ¹	ConeDrive	DemoMap.exe	7/25/2014 2:48 AM	Application	33 KB	
Botanies DotSpatial/Compatibility/dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 38 K8 Documents OtoSpatial/Controls.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 787 K8 Music OtoSpatial/Controls.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 398 K8 Pictures OtoSpatial/Controls.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 398 K8 Videos OtoSpatial/Actadil 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 K8 Computer OtoSpatial/Modeling-Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 9 K8 Soci(c) OtoSpatial/Monadill 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 9 K8 SYSTEM (E) OtoSpatial/Positioning Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 K8 SYSTEM (E) OtoSpatial/Positioning Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 K8 PP_TOOLS (G) OtoSpatial/Positioning Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 9 K8 Network OtoSpatial/Positioning1 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 9 K8 OtoSpatial/Positioning1 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 K8		DotSpatial.Analysis.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	26 KB	
Documents OptSpatial/Controls.dtl 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 787 KB Muic OtSpatial/Controls.dtl 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Pictures OtSpatial/Controls.dtl 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Videos OtSpatial/Controls.dtl 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 KB Computer OtSpatial/Controls.dtl 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 KB OtSpatial/Data-Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 KB S OtS (C) OtSpatial/Pointioning.Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB S VSTEM (E) OtSpatial/Pointioning.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB S VSTEM (E) OtSpatial/Pointioning.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB Muker OtSpatial/Pointioning.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB Wetwork OtSpatial/Pointioning.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB Network OtSpatial/Pointioning.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 59 KB	Libraries	DotSpatial.Compatibility.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	38 KB	
Music DotSpatiaLDatadll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Pictures DotSpatiaLData Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 393 KB Videos DotSpatiaLData Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 69 KB Computer DotSpatiaLData Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 04 KB Computer OtoSpatiaLDataformo.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 04 KB SYSTEM (E) OtoSpatiaLPositioning.Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File S KB P. P.ECOVERY (F) OtoSpatiaLPositioning.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatiaLContortols PL P.COOLS (G) OtoSpatiaLPositioning II 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatiILScroninguistemoling	Documents	DotSpatial.Controls.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	787 KB	
Pictures DotSpatial.Data.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 69 KB Videos OtSpatial.Letansions.dll 11/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 10 KB Computer OtSpatial.Motion forms.dll 11/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 10 KB S OS (C) OtSpatial.Motion.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 9 KB S SYSTEM (E) OtSpatial.Positioning.Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB S YSTEM (E) OtSpatial.Positioning.Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB H P. RECOVERY (F) OtSpatial.Positioning.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Conttrols H P. TOOLS (G) OtSpatial.Positioning.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 90 KB Network OtSpatial.Sprintic.nont.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 KB OtSpatial.Sprintic.nont.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 KB Network OtSpatial.Sprintic.cont.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 36 KB OtSpatial.Sprint.Serving.com.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File <td< td=""><td>J Music</td><td>DotSpatial.Data.dll</td><td>7/25/2014 2:47 AM</td><td>DLL File</td><td>393 KB</td><td></td></td<>	J Music	DotSpatial.Data.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	393 KB	
■ Videos ● DotSpatial.Extensions.dll > Consputer ● DotSpatial.Extensions.dll > 725/2014.247 AM DLL File 10 KB ● OtSpatial.Mono.dll 7225/2014.247 AM DLL File 94 KB ● OtSpatial.Mono.dll 7225/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB ● SYSTEM (E) ● DotSpatial.Positioning.Design.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File 5 KB ● HP_RECOVERY (F) ● DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll ● HP_RECOVERY (F) ● DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll ● MotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll ● MotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 KB 0055patial.Positioning.forms.dll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 KB ● Network ● DotSpatial.Sprinize.ndll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 KB ● DotSpatial.Sprinize.ndll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File 30 KB ● DotSpatial.Sprinize.ndllll 725/2014.247 AM DLL File	Pictures	DotSpatial.Data.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	69 KB	
Computer ObSpatialANdeling.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 94 K8 OS (C:) ObSpatial.Positioning.Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File ODSpatial.Positioning.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Positioning.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Projections.fll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Projections.fll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Sensitial.Sensitial.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.Projections.fll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 K8 OtSpatial.Sensitia.Sensitial.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File So K8 OtSpatial.Sensitia.Sensitia.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File So K8 OtSpatial.Sensitia.Sensitia.Sensitia.Forms.dll OtSpatial.Sensitia.Sensita.Sensitia.Sensitia.Sensitia.Sensitia.Sensitia.Sens	Videos	DotSpatial.Extensions.dll	125/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	10 KB	
Computer Image: Object of the state of t		DotSpatial.Modeling.Forms.dll	7/25/201 2:47 AM	DLL File	94 KB	
SYSTEM (E) ID obspatial-positioning-Design.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DuL File SYSTEM (E) ID obspatial-positioning-forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DuL File IP p. RECOVERY (F) ID obspatial-positioning-forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File IP p. TOOLS (G) ID obspatial-positioning-forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File IP obspatial-positioning-forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File IP obspatial-positioner.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File IP obspatial-position-forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File IP obspatial-symbology.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File IP obspatial-symbology.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File	Computer	DotSpatial.Mono.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 An	DLL File	5 KB	
A Dispatial Positioning.dll 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File DotSpatial Positioning.form.dll 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File DotSpatial Positioning.form.dll 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File DotSpatial Position.form.dll 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.SentialProjection.sdll 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File DotSpatial.SentialProjection.sdll OtSpatial.SentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSentialSentialSentialProjection.sdll OtSpatialSen	 OS (C:) SYSTEM (E:) HP_RECOVERY (F:) HB_TOOLS (G) 	DotSpatial.Positioning.Design.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	Due File		
Precovery (r) Potspatial.Positioning.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File Dotspatial.Positioning.Forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File Dotspatial.Synchrony.forms.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 99 KB Otspatial.Serialization.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 96 KB Otspatial.Serialization.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 36 KB		DotSpatial.Positioning.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	DotSpatial	Controls
Image: Constraint of the second sec		DotSpatial.Positioning.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	Dotspatial	Controls
Metwork Image: Computed Symbol op 2014 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File 99 KB Image: Obspatial Senalization.dll 7/25/2014 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File 36 KB Image: Obspatial Senalization.dll 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File 36 KB Image: Obspatial Symbol op 300 7/25/2014 247 AM DLL File 327 KB		 DotSpatial.Projections.dll 	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File		
DotSpatial.Serialization.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 36 KB 0/DotSpatial.Symbology.dll 7/25/2014.247 AM DLL File 327 KB	Network	DotSpatial.Projections.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	99 KB	
DotSpatial.Symbology.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 327 KB	TYCINOIR	DotSpatial.Serialization.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	36 KB	
		 DotSpatial.Symbology.dll 	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	327 KB	
Uotspatial.symbology.Forms.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 1,406 KB		DotSpatial.Symbology.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	1,406 KB	
DotSpatial.Topology.dll 7/25/2014 2:47 AM DLL File 317 KB		DotSpatial.Topology.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	317 KB	

Figure 114: DotSpatial.Controls

Once you add the controls you should have access to the DotSpatial controls including the "AppManger." You will need to drag and drop the manger unto the form.



Figure 115: AppManger

In addition to the AppManger we will need to add a SpatialDockManger, Map, Legend, SpatialHeaderControl, SpatialStatusStrip, and a button so that we can add a layer to our map. Our project should now look like Figure 116.

	$ \begin{smallmatrix} \mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{v} \end{bmatrix} = \pm \exists \ \forall \ u \ \bot \ \exists \ \mathbf{u} \ \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{u} = \exists \ \forall \ \mathbf{u} \ \bot \ \exists \ \mathbf{u} \ \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{u} = \left[\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{v} \\ \mathbf{v} \end{array} \right] $	T mathew payes
oolbox • # × Form1.cs* Form1.cs [Design]* 4 ×	Solution Explorer	+ 9.×
earch Toolbox P -	1 0 0 G 0 - # Q 6	1 m · + -
Dialogs	Search Solution Explorer (Ctrl+;	.م
Reporting	b & Pronarties	
h Man Tank	A +# References	
A DetSnatial	• # DotSpatial.Anal	ysis
Pointer		patibility
AppMapager	-= DotSpatial.Cont	rols
DatelineCrossinoMan	-= DotSpatial.Data	
	DotSpatial.Data DetSpatial.Data	Forms
LayoutDocToolStrin	• DotSpatial.Exter	elina Forms
LavoutingertTon/Strin	*-# DotSpatial.Mon	0
LucutietRev	- DotSpatial.Posit	tioning
	• DotSpatial.Posit	ioning.Design
	DotSpatial.Posit	ioning.Forms
Last Cayoutine to bid	Solution Explorer Class View	
Layout roperyons	Repetier	* 8 3
	anoMananari DetSential Con	trak Anal-Anazari
	appmanager Docspana.com	ion-Appmanager
A Madda		
	⊡ Misc	
	Directories	(Collection)
Spatial Spatial States	DockManager	spatialDockManager1
Special statistication and an an	HeaderControl	spatiameaderControl1
a spatial costrip	Legend	regenat
Ex Spatial ColStripPanel	PropressHandler	soatia/StatusStrin1
au ToolManager Output	+ a × ShowExtensionsDialogMode	Default
General Show output from: Debug	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Figure 116: Adding Controls

Now that we have added all the controls we will need to link them to the AppManger. Each of the controls (except for the button) we just added, should link to the AppManger through the properties tab like in Figure 117. We also need to link our map to our legend through the properties tab as well.



Figure 117: Linking Controls

Now that our controls are linked to our AppManger, we need to add some code. First we need to tell the AppManger to load extensions. We do that by adding "appManger1.LoadExtensions();" as seen on Figure 117. Next we need to add code to our button. Double clicking the button on the form page will allow us to tie code to a button click event. We want our button to add a layer to our map when clicked so we add "map1.AddLayer();" to our button click event.



Figure 118: Adding Code

Now that we have added the code we need to create a new folder in our project. When we run our project the AppManger will now look for folders named "Plugins" and "Application Extensions" in our Visual Studio project. However, these folders do not yet exist. In the next step we will add them. Navigate to your bin/Debug folder in your project. On this computer the file path was C:\Users\Matt\Desktop\GDAL\GDAL\bin\Debug. In the Debug folder create a new folder named "Application Extensions." We will copy the GDAL extension to this folder.

Organize 🔻 🛛 🏹 Open	Include in library	Burn New folder		8	. 🖬	0
Favorites	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		
C Desktop	Application Extensions	5/18/2015 1:01 PM	File folder			
Lownloads	s s	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
E Recent Places	🕌 de	5/18/2015 12:23 PM	File folder			
ConeDrive	🕌 de-DE	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
	🕌 el	18/2015 12:23 PM	File folder			
Libraries	🕌 en-US	5/18/2015 2-24 PM	File folder			
Documents	🕌 it	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	Eile folder			
J Music	🕌 it-IT	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File for	Augustian		
E Pictures	🕌 ja-JP	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder	Application		
🚼 Videos	🕌 It	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder	Extensions		
	🎍 ni	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder	Extensions		
Computer	🕌 pt	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			۰.
🏭 OS (C:)	📕 pt-BR	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
SYSTEM (E:)	🕌 ro	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
HP_RECOVERY (F:)	🎉 th	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
HP_TOOLS (G:)	\mu vi-VN	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
	📕 zh-CN	5/18/2015 12:24 PM	File folder			
Network	🕌 zh-MO	5/18/2015 12:23 PM	File folder			
	DotSpatial.Analysis.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	26 KB		
	a DatCastial Anakaria adh	7/25/2014 2.47 444	Deancam Dahua D	SA VD		

Figure 119: Application Extensions

The GDAL extension is included in the DotSpatial download. It is located in the "Windows Extension Folder"

Organize 👻 🎲 Open	Share with * E-mail Burn	New folder			jii •	
Favorites	Documents library DotSpatial				Arrange by:	Folder -
🐞 Downloads	Name	Date modified	Type	Size		
🔛 Recent Places	-	\$/15/2015 8-25 AM	Elefolder			
ConeDrive	Tools	5/15/2015 8-25 AM	File folder			
	wi-VN	5/15/2015 8:25 AM	File folder			
Libraries	Windows Extensions	5/15/2015 8:25 AM	File folder			
Documents	ah-CN	5/15/2015 8:25 AM	File folder	-		
J Music	ab-MO	5/15/2015 8:25 AM	File folder			
Pictures	DemoMap.exe	7/25/2014 2:48 AM	Application	33 KB		
Videos	DemoMap.exe.config	7/23/2014 5:40 AM	XML Configuratio	2 KB		
	DemoMap.pdb	7/25/2011 7:48 AM	Program Debug D	18 KB		
Computer	DotSpatial.Analysis.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 4	DLL File	26.KR		
05 (C)	DotSpatial.Analysis.pdb	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	Prog to Debug D.			
HD RECOVERY (E)	DotSpatial.Analysis.xml	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	XML Docume		Windows	
HP TOOLS (G)	DotSpatial.Compatibility.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File			
E HP_100L3 (0)	DotSpatial.Compatibility.pdb	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	Program Debug D		xtensions	
Naturnek	DotSpatial.Compatibility.xml	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	XML Document			
TITLITUR	DotSpatial.Controls.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	787 KB		
	DotSpatial.Controls.dll.config	12/30/2013 10:18	XML Configuratio	2 KB		

Figure 120: Windows Extensions

Copy the "DotSpatial.Data.Rasters.GdalExtension" and place it in the Application Extensions folder we just created.

Feverites Documents library Windows Extensions Arrange by: Felder Desktop Name Date modified Type Size Dominoads DotSpatial Data Rests Gali Extension 5/15/2015 B23 AM File folder Despital Plugin: ChecknoceUpdate 5/15/2015 B23 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugin: ScriptRunner 5/15/2015 B23 AM File folder Pictures DotSpatial Plugin: ScriptRunner 5/15/2015 B25 AM File folder	Documents library Windows Extensions Arrange by: Folder Name Date modified Type Size DotSpatial Date Rasters GdalExtension \$715/2015 8.25 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins Tuck-OnceUpdater \$715/2015 8.25 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins.WtFSClient \$715/2015 8.25 AM File folder	Forverites Documents library Madows Extensions Outloaded Name Date modified Type Size Outloaded Recent Places DodSpatial Date Resters. GoldExtension S05/2015 825 AM File folder DodSpatial Plagins. Support opProjectIL S05/2015 825 AM File folder DodSpatial Plagins. Support opProjectIL S05/2015 825 AM File folder DodSpatial Plagins. Support S05/2015 825 AM File folder DodSpatial Plagins. Support DodSpatial Plagins. Support S05/2015 825 AM File folder DodSpatial Plagins. WFSClient S05/2015 825 AM File folder Computer	Arrange by: Folder ▼
Downloads Name Date modified Type Size © concolive DotSpatial.Data.Rasters.GdalExtension 5/15/2015.825.AM File folder © libraries DotSpatial.Pluging: TeckOnceUpdate 5/15/2015.825.AM File folder © Documents DotSpatial.Pluging: TeckOnceUpdate 5/15/2015.8225.AM File folder Ø Documents DotSpatial.Pluging: TackOnceUpdate 5/15/2015.8225.AM File folder Ø Muric DotSpatial.Pluging: TackOnceUpdate 5/15/2015.825.AM File folder P Intures DotSpatial.Pluging: TackOnceUpdate 5/15/2015.825.AM File folder	Name Date modified Type Size ID DeSpatial Date, Rasters, GdalStenious 5/15/2013 823 AM File folder ID DeSpatial Plugin, Magner, GuoProjectifilu 5/15/2013 823 AM File folder ID DeSpatial Plugin, Surger, Surger, Strager, St	Dersonnadads Name Date modified Type Size Recent Places DotSpatial Data.Pasters.6dalExtension 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder DetSpatial Placing mitchOncel/pdater 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder DotSpatial Placing mitchOncel/pdater 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder DotSpatial Placing MitchOncel/pdater 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder DotSpatial Placing ScriptRunner 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Muric DotSpatial Plagins.KirptRunner 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Muric DotSpatial Plagins.KirptRunner 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Videos DotSpatial Plagins.WFSClient 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder	
Breach DotSpatial.Duta.Rasters.GdalExtension 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder OneDrive DotSpatial.Plugier TeckOnceUpdater 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Ubraries DotSpatial.Plugier TeckOnceUpdater 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Documents DotSpatial.Plugier, TeckOnceUpdater 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Documents DotSpatial.Plugier, Teuro 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Muric DotSpatial.Plugier, Taudem.Port 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder Pictures DotSpatial.Plugier, Taudem.Port 5/15/2015.825 AM File folder	DotSpatial Plugins CarcHone 5/15/2015 8:25 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins.Taudem.Port 5/15/2015 8:25 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins.WebMap 5/15/2015 8:25 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins.WebSClient 5/15/2015 8:25 AM File folder	Recent Places DotSpatial.Data.Rasters.GdalExtension 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder OneDrive DotSpatial.Plugin_mtcOnceUpdater 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Libraries DotSpatial.Plugin_mtcOnceUpdater 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Documents DotSpatial.Plugin_scriptRunner 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Munic DotSpatial.Plugin_scriptRunner 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Pictures DotSpatial.Plugin_scriptRunner 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Videos DotSpatial.Plugin_scriptRunner 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Videos DotSpatial.Plugin_scriptRunner 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder Videos DotSpatial.Plugin_scriptRunner 5/15/2015.8:25 AM File folder	
OneDrive DeSpatial.Updatasters.vadasters.vod 5/15/2015 ac2: NAM Prie Folder DeSpatial.Updatasters.vadasters.vodasters.vod 7/15/2015 ac2: NAM Prie Folder DeSpatial.Plugins.TudiovProjectFill. 5/15/2015 ac2: NAM Prie Folder DeSpatial.Plugins.SciptRummer 5/15/2015 ac2: NAM Prie Folder DeSpatial.Plugins.WebMap 5/15/2015 ac2: NAM Prie Folder DeSpatial.Plugins.WebMap 5/15/2015 ac2: NAM Prie Folder	DotSpatial Julgar, Necknets, odalszterision 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder DotSpatial Julgar, Necknets, odalszterision 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder DotSpatial Flugins, ScriptRunner 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder DotSpatial Flugins, ScriptRunner 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder DotSpatial Flugins, ScriptRunner 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder DotSpatial Flugins, WebMap 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder DotSpatial Flugins, WebMap 5/15/2013 82:3 AM File Tolder	ConcDrive DotSpatau Jaza Asters Goalacterision 2/12/2013 8:2:: AM Prie Tolder DotSpatau Jaza Asters Goalacterision 2/12/2013 8:2:: AM Prie Tolder DotSpatau Plugins:Mapping for Project Fill. 5/15/2013 8:2: AM File Tolder DotSpatial Plugins: ScriptBunner 5/15/2013 8:2: AM File Tolder Music Music DotSpatial Plugins: WebMap 5/15/2013 8:2: AM File Tolder Plictures DotSpatial Plugins: WebMap 5/15/2013 8:2: AM File Tolder Videos Computer Computer	
Libraries Lorgania.rugg.ruge.Vunceupaner Jackau 20 825 AM File folder Comments DedSpatia.Plugins.VetMap S/15/2015 825 AM File folder Music DedSpatia.Plugins.VetMap S/15/2015 825 AM File folder	DotSpatial Plugins. Keyn deprojectifi. 5/13/2015 8:23 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins. ScriptRunner 5/15/2015 8:23 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins. ScriptRunner 5/15/2015 8:23 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins. ScriptRunner 5/15/2015 8:23 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins. WebMap 5/15/2015 8:23 AM File folder DotSpatial Plugins. WebMap 5/15/2015 8:23 AM File folder	Ubraries Ub	
Utbranies Uoropeaa.n-ugomswepro-rozveriogecrafi. 3/13/2023 8/25 AM Frie Folder Documents DotSpatial.Plugins.Taudem.Port 515/2015 8/25 AM Frie Folder Music DotSpatial.Plugins.WebMap 5/15/2015 2/25 AM Frie Folder Folder Folder Folder	Doctspatial Plugins. Script Numer SJJ.S.2013 62:3 AM File folder Doctspatial Plugins. Traudem. Port SJJ.S.2013 62:3 AM File folder Doctspatial Plugins. Traudem. Port SJJ.S.2013 62:3 AM File folder Doctspatial Plugins. WebMap SJJ.S.2013 62:3 AM File folder Doctspatial Plugins. WebClient SJJ.S.2013 62:3 AM File folder		
Concenents upper schupture games de la concenent de la concenet de la concenent de la co	Detspatial Flugins. VebAap S1/3/2015 82:3 AM File Folder Detspatial Flugins. WebAap S1/3/2015 82:3 AM File Folder Detspatial Flugins. WebClient S1/3/2015 82:3 AM File Folder	Documents Docspatial-Fugins.2xtp:Knime 2/12/03/32/23/34 Pile Tolder Music Docspatial-Fugins.2xtp:Knime 2/12/03/32/23/44 Pile Tolder Pictures Docspatial-Fugins.WebMap 5/13/2015/82/3A File Tolder Videos DocSpatial-Fugins.WFSClient 5/15/2015/82/3A File Tolder	
Music DotSpatialPlugins.Nubern/Por S12/30/2012-25 AM File folder DotSpatialPlugins.WebCliner S15/2012-25 AM File folder	DetSpatial Plugins.WebAp S15:/2015-823-AN File folder DetSpatial Plugins.WFSClient S75:/2015-823-AN File folder	Music Despender ugins Laurem Fort Despender ugins Laurem Fort Pictures DotSpatial Pugins WFSClient 5/15/2015 8/23 Alor Videos DotSpatial Plugins WFSClient 5/15/2015 8/23 Alor	
Construction Cons	DetSpatial.Plugins.WESClient 5/15/2015 8:25 Alv. File folder	Pictures Uotspatial/Plugins.WESCEient S/15/2015-823-AN File Folder Computer Computer	
 Uotsparial Villoine WESCHERT 3/15/2015 8/25 Bits Schert 	Dotspatial.Plugins.WFSChent 3/13/2013 8/23 AVM The Tolder	Videos Jols/2013 8:23 AVV - Carboner	
Videos		Computer	
Computer			
		🛎 os (c) GDAL Extension	ension
	GDAL Extension	G SYSTEM (E:)	
	GDAL Extension	HP_RECOVERY (F)	
a SYSTEM (E) a PYPECOVERY (F)	GDAL Extension		
	GDAL Extension	HP_TOOLS (G:)	
	GDAL Extension	E HP_TOOLS (G:)	
GDAL Extension	CDAL Extension	GDAL Extension	ension
		GDAL EXTENSION	ension
	GDAL Extension	system (E)	
	GDAL Extension	HP_RECOVERY (F:)	
a SYSTEM (E) a PYPECOVERV (F)	GDAL Extension		

Figure 121: GDAL Extension

Now that we have the GDAL extension we can run our program and see the new file types.

Irganize · New folder			and the second se		
		11 ·			
Favorites Document	s library	Arrange by: Fol	der =		
Downloads Name	Date modified	Type Size			
OneDrive E My Documer C\User\Matt	ds (22)		1		
Libraries	5/5/2015 9:56 AM	File folder			
Documents	5/5/2015 10-48 AM	File folder			
Music E practice	5/5/2015 4/02 PM	File folder			
Pictures Comparing Pa	dia 4/14/2015 244 DM	File folder			
Tideos Camasa Au	3/26/2015 0.42 444	Ella folder			
Computer	3/26/2015 9-48 AM	File folder		-	
🚣 OS (C.) - 🎍 DotSpatial	3/13/2015 4:05 PM	File folder			hefero1
File name:		All Supported Formats (A All Supported Formats (A Vectors (".ahg:".kmk;".dof Fasters (".bgd;".asc;".adf; Images (".bgg;".cmf".adf;	f.till.adf*berg*errf*ef*gif*ice*jpg*m bif*df*nerr*ect bif*df*nerr*ect	bp" png" (fr", wrnf; bp" png" (fr", wrnf; bp" png" (fr", wrnf; bp", bpd; british png") " nen" (bf", bbr" allr" kers" han" (bf", don")	* d2** eer* al * fer* bde* ade* inac



1.10.2. New Ribbon

Objective:

Add a New Ribbon

One of the advantages of having DotSpatial support plugins is that we can easily add a more complex ribbon than the stock DotSpatial ribbon. It still has the same functionality but has the advantage of being more attractive and user friendly.



Figure 123: New Ribbon

If you would like to have this ribbon for your project you will first need to go to <u>http://dotspatialapp.codeplex.com</u> and download the project to your computer. Unzip and unblock the file. Next we will start a new Visual Studio project using a windows form. As we have done previously we will need to add the usual DotSpatial dlls in addition to four new ones. The DotSpatialApp that we just downloaded includes the DotSpatial dlls in addition to the new dlls we need.

organize - reevitoidi	er)III •	
Microsoft Visual St	Name	Date modified 5/8/2015 4:01 PM	Type File folder	Size		
Projects	🅌 th	5/8/2015 4:01 PM	File folder			
A	🎍 vi-VN	5/8/2015 4:01 PM	File folder			
Favorites	🎍 zh-CN	5/8/2015 4:01 PM	File folder			
Desktop	🈹 zh-MO	5/8/2015 4:01 PM	File folder			
& Downloads	DevExpress.Data.v12.1.dll	4/17/2015 12:03 PM	DLL File	2,894 KB		
Recent Places	DevExpress.Utils.v12.1.dll	4/17/2015 12:03 PM	DLL File	3,657 KB		
Chebrive	DevExpress.XtraBars.v12.1.dll	4/17/2015 12:04 PM	DLL File	3,561 KB		
-	DevExpress.XtraEditu 12.1.dll	4/17/2015 12:04 PM	DLL File	2,259 KB		
Libraries	DotSpatial.Controls.dn	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	787 KB		
Documents E	d DotSpatial.Data.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	393 KB		
al Music	DotSpatial.Data.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	69 KB		
Pictures	DotSpatial.Extensions.dll	3/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	10 KB		
Music Pictures Videos Computer	DotSpatial.Modeling.Forms.dll	7/25/ 914 2:47 AM	QUL File	94 KB		
	DotSpatial.Mono.dll	7/25/2014 2. 7 AM				
Computer	DotSpatial.Projections.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM				
S (C:)	DotSpatial.Projections.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM		New dlls		
SYSTEM (E:)	DotSpatial.Serialization.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM				
HP_RECOVERY (F	DotSpatial.Symbology.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM				
HP_TOOLS (G:)	DotSpatial.Symbology.Forms.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	1,406 KB		
	DotSpatial.Topology.dll	7/25/2014 2:47 AM	DLL File	317 KB		
Wetwork	OotSpatialApp.exe	5/8/2015 3:21 PM	Application	33 KB		

Figure 124: DevExpress dlls

We also need to include "System.ComponentModel.Composition" so that we can use the AppManger. Next we need to set up the user interface. Add a SpatialDockManger, Map, Legend, and an AppManger. Link the AppManger to the other controls as well as link the Map control to the Legend. Now that we have set up our user interface we can add some new code. We need to add the following using statements:

```
using System.ComponentModel.Composition;
using DotSpatial.Controls.Docking;
using DevExpress.XtraBars;
```

Next we need to add following code after our class declaration:

```
[Export("Shell", typeof(ContainerControl))]
private static ContainerControl Shell;
```

After the "InitializeComponent();" add the following:

if (DesignMode) return; Shell = this; appManager1.LoadExtensions(); this.appManager1.DockManager.Add(new DockablePanel("kMap", "Map", map1, DockStyle.Fill)); new DotSpatial.Controls.DefaultMenuBars(appManager1).Initialize(appManager1.HeaderControl);



Figure 125: New Code

Now that we have the required code we just need to copy the ribbon extension to our "Application Extensions" folder in our projects bin/Debug folder. In the DotSpatialApp folder there is an "Application Extensions" folder. Inside this folder there is a "Ribbon" folder. Copy this folder to our project's "Application Extensions" folder.



Figure 126: Ribbon Folder

Now when you run the project you should have a new ribbon.



Figure 127: New Ribbon

2. Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following for their contributions:

- Harold (Ted) Dunsford Jr.
- Mark Van
- Orden Jiří Kadlec